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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report _
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their Strategic report on the affairs of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group :
financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (the 'Company") and its F
subsidiary undertakings ('Subsidiaries’y drawn up to 31 December 2022. Together these make up 'Circle' or the 'Group'. ‘

The Company was incorporated in the United Kingdom on 30 December 2016 and is a holding company within the Group.

Principal activitics

The Group is a provider of healthcare services in the UK, treating privately insured, self-pay and NHS-funded patients at its
54 hospitals and clinics across the UK, The Group also manages integrated care systems on behalf of commissioners. The
Group’s business strategy is founded on the belief that the best way to deliver great patient care is to empower the doctors,
nurses and all other staff who work in our hospitals and clinics to put patients® needs first.

Review of operating and business performance and key performance indicators (IXI'Is)
The principal financial KPIs for the Group are hospital caseload (activity), revenue and profit before tax.

o TR e o

Hospital caseload (activity)
The Group carried out 294,000 procedures during 2022 and received 1.6 million outpatienl visits, compared with 283,000

procedures and 1.6 million outpatient visits during 2021.

Revenug i
Revenue was £1,092 million for the year to 31 December 2022 (2021: £1,052 million). E

Profit before tax
The loss before tax from continuing operations was £87.4 million (2021: £51 .4 million).

Operating performance

The Group continues to focus relentlessly on providing the highest quality care for its patients, At the end of 2022 the group
had achieved Care Quality Control (CQC) ratings of 'Outstanding’ at two of its hospitals and 'Good' ratings at a further 34
hospitals/clinics. Healthcare Improvement Scotland (HIS) and Healthcare Improvement Wales (HIW) have rated all
hospitals in those locations as 'Gaod'.

The operating performance of the Group during 2022 was impacted by the ongoing presence of the Covid-19 pandemie,
with the Group continuing to suppott the wider UK health system in its response to the pandemic as well as returning to
previous commissioning and operating arrangements with its major customers. The Omicron variant resulted in increased
Covid infections across the UK which was a source of shorter-term disruption in the early months of 2022, This subsided
through 2022 and has had Hmited impact to date in 2023. This is reflected in the year-on-year increase in hospital caseload
and the build back towards the pre-pandemic treatment pathways and patient flows, The Group saw a substantial increase in
demand for treatment from patients paying for themselves, alongside increases in activity from private medical insurance
(PMI) providers. NHS commissioning activity remained below pre-pandemic levels in 2022,

Exceptional items of £39,2 million (2021; £11.6 million) recorded within operating profit relate to the following ilems: ;

* costs of £0.6 million (2021: £4.1 million) in relation to the ongoing Competition & Markets Authority review of the
Binningham market following the acquisition of the BMI Healthicare group in January 2020,

* legal costs of £0.5m (2021: £nil) in relation to the May 2022 debt refinancing;

» other exceptional costs £0,2m (2021 £0.1m); and

» the Group incurred £37.9 million (2021: £7.4 million) of impairment charges following the assessment of asset
impairment.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Operating performance (continued)

Finance costs of £137,788 (2021: £137,376) were incurred during the year, Finance costs consisted of the following:

¢« £119.3 million (2021: £118.5 million) in relation o the interest expense incured on IFRS 16 right of use properties;

+ £1.4 million (2021: £0.9 million) in relation to the intercst expensc incurred on IFRS 16 right of use equipment asscts held
on finance leases;

* interest on senior facilities of £10.5 million (2021: £18.0 million); and

+ a one off interest charge of £6.6m (2021: £nil) relating to the write off of the loan issue costs on the previous facilities on

refinancing of these facilities during the year (note 19).

The tax credit for the year was £7.0 million (2021: charge of £1.3 million). The resulting net loss after tax for the period
was £80.4 million (2021: £52,7 million). This reflects the non-cash accounting charges relating to impairments as well as
the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges.

Financial position

The Group's balance sheet as ai 31 Decembor 2022 showed a total deficit of £25.7 million, compared with total equity of
£43 .4 million as at 31 December 2021. The deficit position results from the cumulative impact of the non-cash accounting
charges on leases required under international accounting standards (IFRS16), In the carly years of the leases, this creates a
non-cash accounting charge in excess of the cash rent paid by the Group. The Group's financial position remains strong,
generating cash from operations to fund capital investment and with £100.0 million of committed undrawn facilities

available to it at the date of approving these accounts.

Outlook

The Group's large hospital network, capacity and geographical fuotprint, including its intensive care facilitics, means that
the Group is well placed to serve strong demand for diagnostic, surgical and other treatment demand from patients, on
private pay and group NHS pathways. However, this may be disrupted in the event of resurgence of the pandemic or a new

pandemic.

The inflationary pressures across the UK continue to impact the Group with the cost of providing care increasing with
particular pressure on staffing and energy costs in patticular.

Management has sought to attract and retain high quality staff and ensure fair pay across the workforce, while seeking to
reduce reliance on agency staffing to manage labour costs appropriately. The industrial action by doctors and nursing staff
in the NHS has had no discernible impact an the Company to date.

The Group utilises energy price hedging to provide some price certainty for gas and power costs.

T TR 5 |




Page 4

Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Capital projects

The Guyup wade o significant investment in {ts hospitals and techuology duiing 2022, (o inercase capacity to meet current
and future demand and to continue to provide excellence in patient treatment in safe environments, The Group invested a
total of £86.6 million (including £16.3 million of finance lease funded assets but excluding additions to Right of Use
Property Assets under JFRS 16), including:

+« multi-million pound investment in the hospital facilities in Aberdeen, Glasgow, Birmingham, Bath and London;

+ installation of major imaging equipment across the estate including renewal of 5 MRI, 4 CT and 7 Digital X-Ray scanners
and a further 2 mobile MRI and 2 mobile CT scanners to enable flexible deployment to areas of highest diagnostic need,

+ investinent in medical technology to promote excellence in patient treatment, inchiding over £7.0 million investinent in
replacing and upgrading clinical equipment across the estate;

+ anew cardiac catheterisation lab at the Group's Coveniry hospital to improve access to rapid diagnostics and treatment for
patients;

+ new ward capacity al our hospital in Camarthen, Wales to deliver increased capacity to support patient nceds in the area;

« completion of a new modular theatre at the Beaumont hospital in Bolton to increase capacily and provide increased access
to care in the area; and

« redevelopment of the athopaedic facilities at our Guildford hospital to allow improved aceess to first class care for
patients in the local community.

Financing and treasury transactions

In May 2022, the Group extinguished and refinanced its previous debt facilities with a three year revolving credit facility of
£250 million provided by a group of five banks, An amount of £180 million was drawn down under the facility at that time,
with £160 million remaining drawn as at 31 December 2022 and the remaining £90 million remaining available to the
Group.

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Companies Act 2006 requires afl companies to discloge and discuss the principal risks and uncertainties that they face
which, in most cases, are normal business risks. The Group manages risks through its committee structure, including
governance committees, and through the use of a regularly updated and reviewed risk register, and risk is discussed and
aclioned on a regular basis by the directors.

The Group’s activities expose it to a number of non-financial risks including political risk, reputational risk and cyber risk,
The Group's activities also expose it to a number of financial risks, including interest rate risk, credit risk, cash flow rigk
and liquidity risk. Any use of financial derivatives to manage these risks is governed by the group’s policies approved by
the board of directors, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives to manage these risks. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Enterprise risk identification and management

Risk is an unavoidable element of doing business. The Group’s risk management systems aim to provide assurance to the
Board of directors regarding the effectiveness of the Group's ability to manage risk. This is managed via the Governance
and Assurance Framework, under which matters of significance and impact are discussed by the Integrated Governance
Committee ("IGC"), Operations Board, and the Audit and Risk Commitiee.

The following provides an overvicw of the principal business risk factors facing the Group, along with a description, where
relevant, of the mitigating actions in place.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Adequecy of insurance scope and coverage

The Group is subject to litigation for actions by third parties or may be found liable for damages which may not be covered
by its insurance policies if not covered due to policy limitations or exclusion, ot failure to comply with the terms of the
policy. This could lead to financial exposure for claim value not covered by the insurance policies or increase insurance
premiums impacting future financial periods, Regular reviews are conducted together with the Group's insurance brokers to
ensure sufficient levels of cover are maintained across the Group. Further frequent communication with the Clinical and
Operational functions to ensure that robust process for capturing and reporting of incidents,

Clinical pisk

Ag with al] hospital providers, clinical quality risk is a major consideration. The Group has an integrated clinical
governance structure which is managed by the Chief Medical Officer who sits on the Board. This structure includes senior
staff across the operational, clinical and central support teams. Each hospital site has its own local governance struclure,
while a team of clinica! care quality specialists is dedicated to developing up to date and consistent clinical and operational
policics across all sites. Local governance committees work to a rigorous assurance framework, manage day to day clinical
risks through a risk register, provide appropriate training to staff and consultants, and report their findings to the Group’s
Integrated Governance Committee (IGC) which was chaired by the Group’s Clinical Chairman and an independent Board
Director, The IGC in turn provides risk assurance reports to the boards of the relevant Group companies including the

Company,
Reputational visk

Reputational risk associated with poor clinical outcomes or patient satisfaction is mitigated by the focus on providing high
quality care at the Group’s facilities and constantly secking to improve clinical services through the activities of the IGC

and related assurance reviews.

Contract and price risk

Private medical insurance: The Group is exposed to a highly concentrated PMI market, whereby the Group carries out
considerable activity under a small number of contracts with the major private medical insurers, which are subject to
periodic renegotiation as to the access of insurers’ members to the Group’s facilities and to the price of services. Changes to
or the ending of any of these contracts, or to pricing within them, could affect the levels of activity or profitability of the
Group. The Group manages these risks through active account management, and demonstrating improvement across the
hospital network whether that is through technology and clinical equipment investment or increase scope of services offered
to patients. Additionally, the Group also seeks to maintain good relationships with the private medical insurers, to contract
on medium term arrangements and to agree pricing which takes into account potential increases in the Group’s own cost

base over time.

Self-pay; the Group provides medical services to self-pay patients. Increases in costs as a result of the inflationary pressure
in the UK could result in upward pressure on pricing for patients, potentially impacting the demand. To mitigate these risks,
the group seeks to maintain reasonable pricing, while still recovering increases in costs where possible,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Contract and price risk (continued)

NHS: the Group carries out work for the NS in England under standard contracts with Intergrated Care Boards ("1CBs")
(using the electronic referral service), local contracts with NHS Trusts and occasionally {(as during the pandernic through to
early 2021) directly with central NHS organisations. The nature of these contracts and the consequent access of NHS
patients to the Group's facilities may be subject to change in the future. In general, the Group is paid the standard NHS tariff
for the work it carries out, so is subject to the uncertainty of future tariff changes which are determined centrally by the
NHS. The Group aims to mitigate these risks by acting as a reliable partner to NHS commissioners and consistently
providing high quality services to NHS patients in a cost-effective manner,

The Group's integrated care business delivers an integrated care model, which manages the wholc patient pathway for
individuai specialities through price capped contracts with the NHS. The Group generally secks to price these capped
contracts at levels that takes account of potentially increasing cost pressures and, where appropriate, to establish contract
terms that enables revenues to be adjusted in line with future annual NHS National Tariff inflation and deniographic
growth. All contracts are subject to a public tender process.

Data protection and cyber risk

The Group is subject to data protection and cyber risk from cybercrime, [T systems faiture and threats to data protection,
including data thefi. The Group manages these risks through regular meetings of its Technology Governance sub-
committee, which has accountability for quality and safety of information and technology systems, assessing risk and
performance, making improvement recommendations and advising the Intergrated Governance Committee and Circle
Group Board. The Group also employs data protection and information security officers to oversee relevant risks, and
carries out periodic testing of certain risks as part of its overall assurance programme, Further the Group has in place cyber
insurance cover, covering a number of the first-party and third-party financial and reputational costs.

Government policy and regulatory risk

The provision and regulation of healthcare in the UK, including that by the independent sector, is the subject of periodic
review by government and regulatory bodies. New regulations, and funding arrangements, may be introduced in the future
which could have adverse effect on demand for the Group's services (from different payor groups), its operational costs and
the nature and cost of regulatory compliance.

Workforce availubility risk

Thete is a shortage of nurses and healtheare staff across the UK and overseas, which has led to an increased usage of agency
labour, In the short term the Company can utilise increased agency staff to mitigate this. However in the medium to long
term, this will impact on profitability and would not be sustainable.

The Group is continues to focus on attracting new talent to the Group, including the use of overseas nurses, while also
aiming to reduce staff turnover via improved staff engagement and competative remuneration.

Supply chain availability risk

The continued impact of the Covid pandemie, the UK's exit from the European Union and the Russia-Ukraine conflict has
resulted in shertages of various components wtilised by the Group in its operations. This risk has been managed via the
combination of longer contracted terms with suppliers to safeguard against large price changes, as well the presence of a
warehousing and logistics provider which gives the Group better and increased capacity to hold components with long
replacement leadtimes,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic repott
for the year cnded 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)
Tuflation yisk

Given the global economic conditions, and political uncertainty in Europe, higher levels of inflation have been experienced
with consequent additional pressure on staff costs. The impact on the Group has been an increase in direct costs for goods
and services, not all of which can be covered by increased pricing. To mitigate this risk, where possible, the Company
enters into long term purchase agreements to protect and limit against the full effect of cost inflation. The large majority of
the Group's leases include a cap on the annual increases, Further, customer prices are being reasonably increased where
possible to reflect the increase in costs,

Energy costs

The global economic and political conditions within Europe have also led to large increases in energy prices, The Group
had hedged energy pricing until Q4 of 2022 and so was protected from these increases for the majority of the year, before
experiencing a significant increase in its gas and electricity costs {rom October 2022, with costs expected to remain high
inta 2023. The Group benefited from the government's energy price cap policy from 1 October 2022 until 31 March 2023,
For subsequent periods, the Group continues to hedge its gas and power pricing where appropriate to protect from higher
future prices in the wholesale markets.

A summary of the Group's clectricity usage for the year can be seen in page 15 of the Dircctors’ report.

Interest rate risk

The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee has announced a series of interest rate rises during 2022 and 2023 to
date. Interest on the Circle Group’s new £250 million revolving credit facility is variable based on the Sterling Overnight
Index Average rate (SONIA) and so is exposed to changes in UK interest rates. The current drawn amount under the facility
at the date of these accounts is £150 million, and a 100 basis point increase in SONIA would result in a £1.5 million
increase in the Circle Group’s annual interest cost.

Credit visk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other reccivables, and investments.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. This is managed by regular monitoring of existing
customer accounts and credit checks on new customers before credit is provided. The amounts presented in the Statement

of Financia] Position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables. An allowance for impairment is made when there i{s an
identified loss event which, bascd on previous experience, is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of cash flows.

Cash flow and liquidity risk

In the ordinary course of business, in order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing
operations and future developments, the Group uses a mixture of long-term and short-term debt facilities. The Group
manages liquidity risk by monitaring forecast and actual cash flows, and ensuring that adequate unutilised borrowing
facilities are maintained to cover any short-term liquidity requircments.

The maturity of the debt facilities existing as at 31 December 2022 ar¢ detailed in note 19.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Principal risks and uncertainties (continued)

Environmental and climate change risk

The Circle Group's energy and carbon reporting, as well as its approach to environmental management, is disclosed in the
Directors® report on page 15. The Dircctors have considered broader impacts of climate change and the potential impacts on
the business.

Other than those matters disclosed on page 15 of the Directors’ report relating consideration of the environmental impact of
capital programmes, the Directors consider that climate change risk would not have a material impact on the operating
model of performance of the business.

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1))

Under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006, directors of a company have a duty to promote the suceess of the company.
Specifically, it requires the director of a company to act in the way he or she considers, in good faith, would most likely
promote the success of the company for the benefit of its members as a whole. In performing their duties under section 172,
the directors of the Company have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1) as follows:

a)  the likely consequences of any decision in the long term;

The Board has set long term strategic ohjectives for the Company focused on:

« clinical quality, patient experience and market leading reputation;

* atfracting and retaining the best people;

* investment in infrastructure by improving the environment for patients and staff and capabilities;

» digital transformation to enable improved patient pathways, propositions and efficiency; and

* business growth.

Thesc pillars form the basis of a five-ycar plan which is monitored and update periodically. The strategy and plan
supports decision-making around capital investment and allows the board to forecast funding requirements, debt
capacity and financing options that are required to deliver this. As described elsewhere in this report, the debt facilities
in place suppoit the Company’s investment plans.

In developing the strategy, the Directors also consider cxternal factors such as the political, economic, regulatory, and

competitive environnient,

b)  the interests of the company's employees
The Directors understand the importance of the Group’s employees to quality of care provided to paticnts, and so the
long-term success of the business,

There is regular engagement with employees through an Employee Voice Forum, weekly staff newsletters, and an
annual employee engagement programme. As a result of the most recent annual employee engagement survey, the
Group was awarded a 2-star outstanding employer rating by best companies™, The Group continues to use the results
of its annual employee engagement programme to invest further in improving the overall employee expericnce. This
includes investing in pay awards, increasing minimum basic howly wage of contracted staff and by camrying out
regular galary benchmarking and pay review exercises to allow clinical and other staff to be paid at competitive levels

in the market.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Corporate Governance Statement (Section 172(1)) (continued)

¢)  the need to foster the company’s business relationships with suppliers, customers ang others;
The Board regularly reviews how the Group maintains positive relationships with all of its stakeholders including

patients, consultants, suppliers and others.

The Group’s paticnt satisfaction surveys are run by an independent third party and show that 99 percent would
recommend our hospitals to their friends and family and 99 percent rated the overall quality of care as ‘very good’ or
‘excellent’. The Group also undertakes consultant surveys to gauge the views of the surgeons and other medical
consultants praciicing in our hospitals. The Board reviews the results of these surveys. Supplier relationships are
rnanaged through the Group’s procurement team with longstanding relationships with key suppliers.

The Groups principal risks and uncertainties set out risks that can impact the long-term success of the Group and how
these risks interact with out stakeholders. The Directors actively seek information on the interaction with stakeholders
to ensure that they have sufficient information to reach appropriate conclusions about the risks face by the Group and

how these are reflected within the long-term plans.

d) the impact of the company’s operations on the community and the environment;

The Group has an ongoing capital investitent programme to improve the hospital estate and bring new medical and
diagnostic equipment in Lo the hospitals. The capital project process considers the environmental impact and energy
efficiency of programmes of work ta monitor and improve this over time.

The Company and its employees also support local and national charities through various fund raising, sponsorship
and matched giving initiatives, as well as raising donations to provide supplies and equipment to hospitals in Ukraine.

€)  the desirability of the company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct
As a healthcare provider, the Directors believe that maintaining the reputation of the Group is critical for the future
success. Clinical quality and governance is at the heart of the culture of the Group and receives significant focus at

Board level.

The Board is comunitted to high standards of business conduct and details of the governance structures are set out in
the annual Quality Account, available on the Circle Health Group website.

f)  the need to act fairly as between members of the company
The Group holds monthly meetings with shareholders represented. Sharcholders have worked effectively together to

agree the course for the fong term future of the Group.

The Company and its board of directors (*the Board®) is committed to and has applied the principles of corparate
governance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large private companies for the year ended 31
December 2022, Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set out in the Statement of corporate

governance arrangements.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable expectation that the Group
and Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of
approval of these financial statements, the going concen assessment period, for the following reasons.

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance sheet position of the Group, which reflects the cumulative impact
of non-cash accounting charges refating to impairments as well as the impact of IFRS 16 lease accounting charges. The
Directors have also considered the strong operating performance of the Group and the strong operating cash flows, which
are sufficicnt to fund the capital investment requirement of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for the purpose of the going concern review and have also
applied various sensitivities, These forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Company together
with the undetlying assumptions. The forecasts show that the Group has sufficient cash and facilities to provide liquidity
through the review period.

The Group’s senior facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Company’s ultimate parent company, Centene
Corporation, and financial covenants for the facilities are measured at that level, Therefore, the directors of the Comipany
have reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial performance. The covenant reporting shows
that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates that they
will be complied with throughout the forecast period with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whercby Pure Health Holding LLC
(‘Pure Health”) (a major healthcare operator based in the Middle East, with a range of international healthcare investments)
will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centcne
Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024, No material change to the operating
activities of the Group is expected in the period to closing of the transaction.

The directors have considered the future financing arrangements for the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of
the transaction, including the provision of funds to repay existing borrowings and to provide working facilities.
Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following completion of the transaction, this
will provide adequate liquidity for the Group with appropriate headroom.

:
i
;
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Going concern (continued)

The directors do not believe there will be any material change to the scope or nature of the Group's operations, following
completion of the transaction and within the going concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any
company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future plans of the proposed new owners, for the
strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror and received
representations from them. Based on this, ai the dale of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no reason
to belicve that the cntity will not continue as a going coneert,

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals. In the event that these conditions
arc not met and therefore the transaction does not close (or is delayed) the existing financing and facilities would remain in
place which, as noted above, provide adequate liquidity for the Group.

After making enquiries and based on the evidence available at the date of approval of these financial statements, including
reviewing the facts and circumstances note above, and the Group’s forecasts and downside sensitivities, lhe directors have
concluded that they have a reasonable expectation that the Group and the Company have adequate resources available (o

them, to continue in operational existence and meet its [iabilitics as they fall due for the foreseeable future, and at least for

12 months from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

frae o

Henry Davies
Chief Financial Officer

29 NOveMnEY 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

This report forms part of the Directors' report. The Company and its board of directors (*the Board') is committed to and
has applied the principles of corporate govemnance contained in the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for large
private companies for the year ended 31 December 2022. Further explanation of how each principle has been applied is set

out below,

Purpose and leadeyship

The Board and Company have regular communications with stakeholders and this is different case by case. The key
stakeholders and the specific forum for cngagement arc listed below:

* Patients — patient feedback forms, complaints management policies, provision of information to Private Healthcare
Information Network (PHIN) whose role it is to provide independent information to patients about private healthcare
providers

* Regulators — frequent relationship meetings with CQC, HIS and HTW and communication via Independent Healthcare
Provider Network (JHPN)

* Employees - Employee Voice Forum and employee engagement programme

« Consultants — Medical Advisory Committees within each hospital (MAC) chaired by a Hospital Clinical Chair

« NHS — local relationships with Trusts and ICBs, and central relationships with NHS England and other national NHS
bodies

+ Insurers — relationships and regular engagement with the commercial team

= Suppliers - relationships and regular engagement with the procurement team

The Directors have established a purpese statement for the Group “To provide the high quality, safe and compassionate
care our patients need and expect.” supported by the prineiples of:

+ “we believe that patienis come first™;

“we believe in our people™;

* “we belicve that ‘good enough’ never is”; and

« “we believe in being open-minded and innovative”.

and also supported by the following values:

* “we value people who are selfless and compassionate™;

+ “we value people who are collaborative and committed”;
* “we value people who are agile and brave”; and

* “we value people who are tenacious and creative™.

The Company is committed to building a culture which encourages staff to speak up safely. This is supported by our
“Freedom to Speak Up Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing)” policy and the role of the “Freedom to Speak Up Guardian™.
“Freedom to Speak Up” leads were appointed in each hospital and have the support of their local management teams, the
Group’s guardian and our Chief Medical Officer who has Executive responsibility for “Freedom to Speak Up”.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Statement of corporate governance arrangements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Purpose and leadership (continued)

The Company has various policies to mitigale the risk of conflicts of interest including the conflicts of interest and fraud,
anti-bribery and carruption policies supported by a mandatory training programme. In addition all healthcare professionals
have ethical requirements under their individual professional registrations to conduct themselves in an ethical manner and
in the best interests of patients. Where the Group has commercial relationships with medical consultants these are
disclosed on the Circle Healthcare website,

There are examples of how the directors have considered their duties in relation to $172 b), in the manner in which it
cngages with employees, as set out in the Strategic Report.

Board compaosition
The Circle Health Holdings Limited Board is comprised of directors who have healthcare experience and other relevant

experience. Details of directors who have served over the period are included in the Directors’ Repott.

Directors’ responsibilities

The Group has a clearly defined governance framework, based on Board and Governance Assurance Frameworks, and
Committee structures. The Board is supported by the Integrated Governance Committee, which had primary responsibility
for the oversight of clinical and other related governance and risks, and the Audit and Risk Committee, which had primary
responsibility for the aversight of financial and related governance and risks in the Group, together with a series of
operational and governance boards, committees and sub-commiiiees, with established terms of reference.

Opportunity and risk

The Company cantinually seeks opportunity to create value for stakeholders from growth in activity and improvement in
financial result, using the existing assets of the Company and through investment in new facilities, equipment and
technology. The risks that threaten these opportunities have been described earlier in this risk, and are under active
management through the Company’s risk management systems.

Remuneration

On any new appointment the board considers the market and renuneration packages that are commensurate to the role.
Short term incentive arrangements are based on the quality and performance of business, The market conditions are
reviewed on a regular basis, The Group’s Gender Pay Report 2022 is available on the Group's website,

Stakcholder relationship and engagement

There are various mechanisms for information to be collected to inform the Board’s view of their impact on stakeholders,
Information about patients is obtained from various clinical indicators and patient reported outcome measures (PROMS),
The Group monitors its impact on the environment through review of the carbon emissions reporting (see further
information on this elsewhere in the Directors’ Report), Other stakeholder engagement mechanisms are set out in the first
principle regarding "Purpose and Leadership’,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022

The directors present their report on the affairs of the Company, together with the audited financial statements and auditor’s report,
for the year ended 31 December 2027,

Detnils of the Group's principal activity, events affecting the Campany since the financial period end, an indication of likely future
developments in the business, details of financial risk management, engagement with employees, suppliers and customers and a
statemeni on going concern have been included in the Strategic repott and therefore form part of this Directors' report by reference.

Dividends

The directors do not propose a dividend for the year (202 1: £nil).

Directors

The directors who served throughout the year, except as noted, and subsequently are as shown below:

Peter Sullivan

John Hutton

Brent Layton

Beverley Tew (appointed 23 February 2022)
Paolo Pieri

Ilenry Davies

Paul Manning

Directors' and officers’ insurance

The Company has procured qualifying third party indemnity insurance for all Directors and Officers of the Company and all Group
companies. The Company has directors' and officers' insurance for the benefit of, amongst athers, the directors of the Company,

which is in place at the date of this report.

Disabled employees

Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered, bearing in mind the abilities of the applicant
concerned. In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure that their employment with the
Cortnpany continues and that appropriate adaptations are made. It is the policy of the Company that the training, career development
and promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other emplayees.

Emplayee consuitation

The Company places considerable value on the involvement of its employees, and has continued to keep thein informed on matters
affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the company. This is achieved through formal
and informal meetings, the company newsletter, and regular emails. Employee representatives are consulted regularly on a wide
range of maters affecting their current and future interests and a staff survey is completed and reported on cach year.
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continucd)

Energy and carbon reporting

The data reported on below include all sources of Green House Gas (GHG) emissions and energy usage as required under the Large
and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 as amended. This has been compiled in line
with the 'Environmental Reporting Guidelines: Including streamlined energy and carbon reporting guidance 2020°,

Circle emissions and energy usage

For Circle Health Group, GHG emissions and energy usage date for period | January to 31 December

2022 2021
Tonnes of Tonnes of

CO,e CO,e
Gas consumption (Scope 1) 10,228 13,864
Cmissions from combustion of fuel for transport purpases {Scope 1) 951 923
Emissions from electricity purchased for own use, including for the 11758 14.237
purposes of transport (Scope 2) ’ ’
Caoal (industrial) (scope 1) 969 877
Other petroleum gas (Calor) (scope 1) 14 14
Fuel oil {generator fuel) {scope 1) 320 189
Emissions from business trave] in employce-owned vehicles where 398 221
company pays for fuel indirectly (Scape 3)
Total 24,038 30,325
Energy consumption used to caleulate emissions (kWh) 121,376,838 150,555,533
Revenue (£'m) 1,092 1,052
Tonnes of CO,e per revenue (per £'m) 23 29

During the financial year the Company continued to develop its systems and management approach to reduce its environmental
impacl. The Health and Safety committee regularly reviews and evaluates opportunities to reduce our environmental impact and
related costs. The continued focus remains on the major utilities of electricity, gas, water and waslewater along with the material

commodities of both healthcare and general waste imanagement and recycling.

The Environmental management process is broken down into two key management areas: Waste Management (including recycling)
and Utilities Management.

Waste management, including recycling elements, are covered and monitored by the Regional Health and Safcty managers in
cooperation with loca! site Waste Officers; Utilities management elements are managed by the Regional Engineering Managers with
local support from environment officers and site engineers. This delegation of responsibilities makes best use of the skillset within

the teams.

The Group has followed the 2021/2022 UK Government environmental reporting guidance and used the GHG Protocel Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised edition) and emission factors from the UK Government’s GHG Conversion Factors for
Company Reporting 2020 to caleulate these disclosures. The Group is currently putting in place new stmctures to support its
sustainability goals which will include detailed plans towards becoming Net Zero in line with the current government requirements.
Obnortunities to exceed those targets will be cvaluated as identificd,
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' report
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (continued)

Disclosure of information to the auditor
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of this report confirms that:
+ 50 far ag the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is unaware; and
« the director has taken all the steps that she or he ought to have taken as a director in order to make herself or himselt aware of any

relevant audit mfornmation and to establish that the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

This confirnation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of s418 of the Companies Act 2006,

Auditor
KPMG have exprossed their willingness to continue in office as auditor of the Company and appropriate arrangements are being made

for them to be deemed reappointed in the absence of an Annual General Mecting,

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on behalf of the Board.

S S—

Director: Henry Dayies

29 Nevewber . 2023
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors' responsibilities statement
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Statement of Directors® responsibilities in respect of the financial statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company finaacial statenients in

acoundauce willt applivable law aud ivgulations,

Company law requites the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each financial year, Under that
law they have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting standards
and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK accounting
standards and applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework,

Under company law the ditectors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of the Group’s profit or loss for that period. Tn preparing each of
the Group and parent Company financial slaleinents, the directors ae required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

+ for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

+ for the parent Company financial statemients, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disciosed and explained in the financial statements;

« assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to centinue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going

concern; and
» use the going concern basis of accounting uniess they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company ot to cease

aperations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and cxplain the parent Company’s
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent Company and enable them to
ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free fiom material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open fo them to safeguard the assets of the
Group and to prevent and deteet fiaud and other frregularities.
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Independent auditor’s report
(o the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited (“the Company™) for the year ended 31 December
2022 which comprise the Cansolidated Statewent of Comnprehensive Income, Consolidated Statement of financial Position,
Company Statement of Financial Position, Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Statement of Changes in
Equity, Consalidated Statement of Cash Flows and related notes, including the accounting policies in note 2.

In our opinion:

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the parent Company’s affairs as at 31
December 2022 and of the Group’s loss for the year then ended;

+ the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted international accounting
standards;

» the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including
FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

« the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)™) and applicable law. OQur
respansibilitics are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is a sufficicnt and appropriate hasis for our opinioti.

Going concern

The directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or
the Company or to cease their operations, and as they havc concluded that the Group and the Company’s financial position
means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that could have cast significant
doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of approval of the financial statcments

(““the going concern period™).

In our evaluation of the directors’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group’s business model and analysed
how thosc risks might affect the Group and Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going
concern period,

Our conclusions based on this work:

« we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial staterments is
appropriate;

« we have not identified, and concur with the directors’ assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events or
conditions that, individually or collcetively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Company's ability to continue as a
going concern for the going concern parind.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a guarantee that
the Group or the Company will continue in operation.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to deteet
Identifving and vesponding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures included:

+ Enquiring of directors and inspection of policy documentation as to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent
and detect fraud as weli as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

* Reading Board and Audit and Risk Committee minutes.

+ Considering remuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for management, and directors,

« Using analytical procedutes to identify any unusual or unexpected rclationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout the
aundit.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possibie pressure to meet profit targets and our overall knowledge of
the control environmient, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particuler the risk
that Group management may be in a pesition to inake inappropriate accounting cntries. On this audit we do not believe there is a
fraud risk related to revenue recognition because there are limited incentives, pressures or opportunities to perpetrate a material
fraud.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks.
We performed procedures including:

» Identifying journal entrics to tost based on risk criteria and comparing the identified eniries to supporting documentation,
These included those posted to unusual pairings with cash accounts,

* Assessing whether the judgements made in making accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias.

Hdentifving and responding to risks of material misstatement related to compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements from our general cominercial and sector experience and through discussion with the directors, legal team and other

management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with the directors, legal team and other management the policies
and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated identified laws and regulations lhroughout our team and remained atert to any indications of non-compliance
throughout the audit.

The potential cffect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably.
Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial reporting

legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation and taxation legislation and we assessed the
extent of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement ftems.
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Independent auditor’s report
to the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continned)
Idemtifping and responding to risks of material misstatenient related to compliance with lmws and regulations (continued)

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could have a
material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of fines or litigation or
the Joss of the Group's license to operate. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have such an effect: health
and safety, data protection laws, employment and social security legislation, fraud, corruption and bribery laws, environmental
protection legislation, public service procurement laws, regulations of the Care Quality Commission and certain aspects of
company legislation recognising the nature of the Group’s activities. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to
identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and inspection of
regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an upavoidable risk that we muy not have detected some material
misstatements in the financial statements, cven though we have properly planncd and perfonmed our audit in accordance with
auditing standards, For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and
transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited procedures required by auditing standards

would identify it.
In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are designed to detect’

materjal misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannct be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations.

Strategic report and directors’ report

The directors are responsible for the strategic report and the directors” report. Our opinion on the financial slatements does not
cover those reports and we do not express an audit opinion thercon.

Our responsibility is to read the strategic report and the dircctors’ report and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our
finangial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work:

* we have not identified material misslatements in the strategic report and the divectors’ report;

+ in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consislent with the financial statements; and

« in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report 1o you if, in our opinion;

* adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

* the parent Company financia! statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retuns; or
* certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
« we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We liave nothing to report in thesc respects,
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Independent auditor’s report
o the members of Circle Health Holdings Limited

Directors® responsibilitieg

As explained more fully in their statement sel out on page 17, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statcments and (o being salisficd that Lhey give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determune 18 necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that arc free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing
the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or {a cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether dus to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 18As (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial

statements,

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at www. frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

The purpose of our audit work and to whoin we awe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006, Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state {0 the Company’s members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility o anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or
for the opinions we have foymed.

: w R (% S

David Simpson (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

58 Clarendon Road
Watford,
WD17 IDE

..1December .,
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
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Notes 2022 2021
£2000 £2000
Revenue 4 1,091,724 1,051,642
Cost of sales (898,146) (845,520)
Gross profit 193,578 206,122
Administrative expenses (104,301) (111,860)
Operating profit before exceptional items 89,277 94,262
Exceptional administrative expenses 5 (39,175) (11,609)
Operating profit 6 50,102 82,653
Profit on disposal of subsidiary 25 - 3,267
Finanee income 8 336 54
Finance costs 9 (137,788) (137,376)
Loss before tax (87,350) (51,402)
Income tax credit/(charge) 10 6,985 {1,274)
Loss for the year (80,365) (52,676)
Loss attribatable to:
Owmers of the parent (81,400) (53,594)
Non-controlling interests 1,035 918
(80,365) {52,676)

The noies on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
ycar ended 31 December 2022 (continued)
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Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

Items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net of tax):
Actuarial gain on scheme gbligations

Actuarial loss on scheme assets

Adjustments for restrictions on the defined benefit asset

Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes

Net effect in reserves arising from movements on future scheme commitment

Total items that will not subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss (all net
of tax)

Tteris that will subscquently be reclassified to profit or loss:
Tax on equity-settled share-based payments

Total other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive cxpense for the year

The above amounts were derived from continuing operations.

31 December

31 December

2022 2021
£2000 £000
(80,365) (52,676)
38,257 4,028
(38,669) (3,862)
1,353 8,373
941 8,539
941) (8,539)
145 .
145 -
(80,220) (52.,676)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the statement of other comprehensive income,
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2022
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Non-current assets
Intangible assets

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cagh and bank balances

Teotal assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions

[Lcase liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Provisions

Loans and other borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities
I.ease liabilities

Total liabilities
Net (liabilities)/assets

Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves

Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to ewners of the parent
Equity attributable to nen-controlling interests
Total equity

Notes

it
12
13
14

16
18

22
23
17

23
19
21
17

24
24
24

2022 2021
£2000 £2000
38,617 46,413
147,478 147,478
1,714,355 1,734,676
4,299 5,142
1,904,749 1,933,709
17,746 17,276
93,173 75,712
35,013 102,915
145,932 195,903
2,050,682 2,129,612
(178,756) (169,709)
(14,679) (17,086)
(14,159) (8,065)
(207,594) (194,860)
- (118)
(161,034) (214,038)
(4,412) (11,133)
{1,703,298) (1,666,021)
(1,868,744) (1,891,310)
(2,076338) _ (2,086,170)
(25,656) 43,442
57 21
201,440 201,476
11,281 -
(241,423) (160,487)
(28,645) 41,010
2,989 2,432
(25,656) 43,442
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2022 (continued)

The finanial statements ol Clrcle Health Holdmgs Limited were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised
for issue on .29 NOVEINDRT. . 2023. They were signed on its behalf by:

/Ry R

Name: Henry Davies
Director

The notes on pages 28 lo 56 form part of these financial statements.
The company’s registered number is 10543098,
The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannot: Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

year ended 31 December 2022
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Non-
Share Share  Accurnulated Otier controliing
capital premium losses restryes Toazl interest Total equity
£'900 L1000 £'000 £400 £'900 £1000 £'000
Ralamce a5 a1 31 December 2010 21 201,478 (107,106) - 4,391 1,585 95,97¢
Amauwnts vestad under FFRS 2 fnole 23) - - 213 - ua - 33
Dividends - - ~ - - i {n
{Los and totaf c h conte for the year - {53,554) - (53,504} 518 {52,616}
Dalance as at 31 December 2021 3T 01436 {ikeash T T dnw — iaa 3,042
Other movements (nale 24) 6 (36) - - - -
Equity-seitid share-based payment (note 24) - - 11,288 11,281 11,281
Acquisition of nan-controlling ivlerssts (uake 15) - - e - 319 {459) (140)
Dividends - - - - {19 1301
(Lo and toal vz (f ome for the year - - (81,255) - (81,1585) Lms (80,220)
Dalaace as at 3t December 1037 5T __J0ias ___(dnAayy . 1losl ___ (hedS) _ 39Es  ___ (38%ig)

The notes an pages 28 1o 56 fon part of these Tinanefal statements,



Circle Health Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022
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Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash flow from opcrating activitics {notc 26)
Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Net cash inflows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Dividends received from associates and joint ventures
Purchase of computer software

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Net proceeds on disposal of subsidiary (note 25)

Net cash outflows from investing activities

Repayment of lease liabilties
Repayments of loans and borrowings
Loan transaction costs paid

Consideration paid for acquiring minority interest holding (see note i5)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Cash and cash cquivalents consist of:
Cash 4t bank and in hand

Cash and bank balances

The notes on pages 28 to 56 form part of these financial statements.

2022 2021
£7000 £:000
199,080 184,393
336 54
(137,406) (129,727)
(179) (3,728)
61,831 50,992
2,534 2,450
(857) (1,022)
(62,997) (57,153)
1,346 677

- 788
(59,974) (54.,260)
(10,599) (13,496)
(58,000) -
(1,020) -
(140) -
(69,759) (13,496)
(67,902) (16,764)
102,915 119,679
35,013 102,915
35,013 102,915
35,013 102,915
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Circle Health Holdings Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022,

1. General information

Circle Health Holdings Limited (the ‘Company' or *Group') is a private company limited by shares that is incorparated, registered and domicited in the United
Kingdom under the Companics Act 2006, The registered office is Ist Floor 30 Carnon Street, London, EC4M 6XH, The nature of the (iroup and Company’s
operations and its principal aclivities are st out in the Strategic Report on pages 2 1o | 1. The financial statements are for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2. Accounilng pulleles

Basis of preparation
The Group financial statements conselidate those of the parent company and its subsidiades. The parent company financial stalements present information about

the Company as a separate entity and not about its Group.

The consolidated financial staterents have been prepared in accordance with UK adopted intemational accounting standards ("UK adopted [FRS™) and the
Companies Act 2006.

The consolidated and company financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as explained in the accounting policies below.
Historical cost is generally based on the fajr value of the consideration given in exchange for the goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to scll an assci or paid fo transfer a liabifity in an orderly transaction between market participanis at the
T ment date, regardless of whether that price is directly abservable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
ar a lizbility, the Group takes into account the characleristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take thosc characteristics into account when
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement parposes in these financial statements is delermined on such 8 basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scape of [FRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scape of IAS 16, and measurements {hat lave some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value ir: [AS 2 or value in use in [AS 36.

The presentational and functional currency of the Group and the Company is pounds (GBP). All financial information has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

The Company has elected to prepare the Campany (inancial staiements in accordance with Financiat Reperting Standaed 101, Reduced Disclosure Framework'
(FRS 101). The Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006 as applicable 1o companies using FRS 101,

The Company financial staternents are presented on pages 57 to 61,

‘Fhe following cxremptions from the requirements of IFRS have been applied in the preparation of the Company financial stateinents:

+ The requitements of [FRS 7 Finaucial Ingtruments;

+ The requitement in paragraph 38 ol TAS | Presentation of Financial Staterments to present comparative information in respect of paragraph 79(a)(iv) of IAS I

+ The requirensents of paragraphs 10(d), 10(f), 16, 38A, 38B, 38C, 38D, 40A, 40B, 40C, 40D, 111 and 134 o 136 of IAS 1:

+ The requirements of JAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

+ The requirements of paragraphs 3¢ and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting Palicies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors;

+ The requirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures; and

+ The requirements in TAS 24 ta disclose related party transastions entered into between two or more members of 2 group, provided that any subsidiary which is
a party to the transaction is whally vwned by such a member,

The principal accounting policies for the Group and Cempany are set out below:

New and amended IFRS Standards that are effective for the current year

The following amendments were effective during the financial vear, The Group has performed an assessment and concluded that no impact will be scen asa
result of these changes:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations—Reference ta the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment—Procesds before Intended Use

Amendments to IAS 37 Pravisians, Cantingant Liabilitics and Contingent Assets—Onerous Conlracis —~ Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to [FRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Finaucial Instruments, IFRS 15 Leases, and IAS 41

Agriculture



Circle Healih Holdings Limited

FPage 30
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2

Acceunting palicies {continued)
New and revised IFRS Standards in issuc but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has nol applied the followiag new and revised IFRS Standards that have been issued but are
nat yet effective:

IFRS 17 (including the June 2020 Amendments to Insurance Contracts

IFRS 17)
Amendments to [FRS 10 and 1AS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
Amendments to 1AS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-cuyrent

Amendments to 1AS 1 and [FRS Practice

Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to 1AS 8 Defhiition of Acconnting Esthnates

Amendments 1o JAS 12 Deferred Tax related 1o Asseis aud Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction
Amendments o 1AS 1 Non-curvent Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to IFRS 16 Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to [FRS 17 Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 Comparative Information

The ditcetors do not expect that the adoption of the Standacds fisted above will have a materiat impact on the financial statements of the Group in future periods,
except as nated below:

Autendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statesients— Classification of Liabilities as Current ar Non-current

The amendments to TAS 1 affect only the presenlation of liabilities as current or nan-current in the statement of financiai position and sot the amount ot Gming of
recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as cwrent or non-current is based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reparting peried,
speeify that classification s upaffectsd by expectations about whellier an entity will exercise its right to defer settlernent of & Jability, cxplain that vights are it
existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of *settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to the
transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

The emendments arc applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 Januwary 2024, with early application permitted.

Amendments to IAS I Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practlce Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements—Disclosnre of Accounting
Pollcies

The amendments change the requirements in LAS 1 with regard to disclosure of accounting palicies. The iment replaces all in of the term
‘significant accounting policies’ with *matei jal accounting policy information’. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other
information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected io inflvence decisians that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The supporting paragraphs in L1AS | are also amended to clacify that sccounting policy information that relates to immaterial transactions, other events or
conditions is immaterial and need not be disclosed. Accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events
or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial, However, not all accounting policy information relating ta material transactions, other events or conditions is

itself materia).

The Board kas also developed guidance and cxamples to exploin and demanstrate the application of the *four-step materiality process® described in IFRS Practice
Statement 2,

The amendments to IAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or afer } January 2023, with earlier application permitted and are applied prospectively.
The amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2 do not contain an effective date or transition requirements.

Amendments to [AS 8 Accounting Policles Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors—Deftuition of Aecounting Estimates

The amendments replaces (he definition of a change in accounting estimates with a definition of accounting estimates. Under the new defmition, accounting
estimates are “*monetary amounts in financjal statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”.,

The definition of a change in accounting estimates was deleted, However, the iASB retained the concept of changes in accounting estimates in the Standard with

the following clarifications:
+ a change in accounting estimate that results from new information or new developmenis is not the correction of an error; and
* the effecls of a change in an input or a measurement technigue vsed to develop an accounting estimale are changes in accounting cstimates if they do pot result

from the correction of prior period errors.

The [ASE added two examples (Examples 4-5) to the Guidance on implementing JAS 8, which accompanies the Standard. The TASB has deleted one example
{Example 3) as 1t could cause confusion in light of the amendments.

The amendments are cfiective for annual periods beginning on or after | January 2023 to changes in accownting poticies and changes in accounting estimates
that occur on or after the beginning of that peried, with carlier application permitted.
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2. Accounting policies (continued)
Amendments to LAS 12 Income Taxes—Deferred Tax related ta Assefs and Linbillties arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments introduce a farther exception from the initiaf recognition exemption. Under the amendments, an entity does not apply the initiat recognition
exemption for lransactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary difterences.

Depending on the applicable tax law, equal taxable and deductible temporary differences may arise on initial recognition of an asset and liability in a wansaction
that is not a business combinalion and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit. For example, this may arise upor rccognition of a lcase liability and the
corresponding right-of-use assct applying IFRS 16 at the commencement dafe of a lease.

Following the amendments 10 LAS 12, an entity is requived to recognise the related defirred tax asset and liability, with the recognition of any deferred tax asset
Being subject to the recoverability crileria in [AS 12,

The LASB also added an illustrative example 10 TAS 12 (hat explains how the amendments are applied.

The amendments apply to transactions that occur on or afier the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented. In addition, at the beginning of the

carliest comparative period an entity recognises:
* a deferred tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will ba available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised) and a
deferred tax liability for all deductible and faxable temporary differences associated with:

- right-of-use assets and lease Labilities

- decommissioning, restoration and similar liabilities and the convesponding amounts recagnised as part of the cost of the related asset;
+ the cumulative efifect of initially applying the amendments ag an adjustment io the opening balance of retained eamings (or other component of equity, us
appropriate) at that date.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023, with easlier application pemmitted,

Going conecrn

The Directors have performed a going concern assessment and concluded there is a reasonable expectation that the Group and Company has adequate resources
to continue in operational existence for a period of at least 12 months from the date of appraval of these financial statements, the going cancern assessment
period, for the following reasons.

The Directors have considered the consolidated balance shect posilion of the Group, which reflecis the cumiulative impact of non-cash accounting charges
relating to impairments as well as the impact of [FRS 16 lease accounting charges, The Directors have also considered the strong operating performance of the
Group and the strang operating caslt flows, which are sufficiont to fund the capital investment reguirement of the Group.

Management of the Group has prepared liquidity forecasts for ihe purpese of the going concern review and have also applied various sensitivities. These
forecasts and sensitivities have been reviewed by the directors of the Company together with the underlying assumptions. The forccasts show that the Group has
sufticient cash and facilities to provide liquidity through the review period.

The Group's senior facilities (set out in note 19) are guaranteed by the Corupany’s ultimate parent company, Centene Carparation, and financial covenants for
the facilities are measured at that level. Therefore, the directors of the Company bhave reviewed the covenant compliance reporting and the forecast financial
performance. The covenant reporting shows that the covenants have been complied with throughout the period and the forecast financial performance indicates
that they will be complied with throughout the forceast period with appropriate headroom.

On 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby Pure Health Helding LLC {*Pure Health’) (a major healthcare
operator based in the Middle East, with a range of international healthicare investments) will, through its UK subsidiary, acquire Circle Health Holdings Limited
and its subsidiary undertakings from the Centene Corporation group, with the transaction expected to close in the first quarter of 2024, No material change ta the
operating activities of 1he Group is expected in the periad to clasing of the transaction.

The directors have considered the future financing arvangements far the Group proposed by Pure Health on completion of the transaction, including the provision
of funds to repay existing borrowings and 10 provide working facifities. Management has prepared liquidity forecasts on that basis which show that, following
completion of the transaction, this will provide adequale liquidity for the Group wilh appropriate headroom.

The directors do not believe there will be any materiat change to the scope or nature of the Group's operations, following completion of the transaction and within
the going concern assessment period. As with a change of ownership of any company, the directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty as to the future
plans of the proposed new cwners, for the strategic direction of the Company. The directors have had discussions with the proposed acquiror snd received
represenlations from them. Based on this, at the date of approval of these financial statements, the directors have no reason to believe that the entity will not

continue gs & golng cencern,

The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including regulatory approvals, In the event that these conditions are not met and therefore the
transaction dees not close (or is delayed) the existing financing and facilitics would remain in place which, as noted abave, provide adequate liquidity for the

Group.

Affer making enquities and based o the evidence dvailable at the date of approval of these financial statements, mcluding reviewing the facis and circumtstances
note above, and the Group's forecasts and downside sensitivities, the directors heve concluded that they have a reasonable eapectation that the Group and the
Company have adequate resources available to them, to continve in operational existence and meet its liabilitics as they fall dus for the foreseeable future, and at
least for 12 manths from the date of these financial statements.

Accordingly, they continue 10 adopt the going concem basis in preparing the financial statements,
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2. Accounting policies (confinued)

Basis of Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity controlled, directly or indirectly. Control is regarded as the power to govern the financial and operating policics of the subsidiary so as to
benefit fram its activities. The financial results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control is obtained until the date that contro ceases. Allintra Group
transactions are clintinated as part of the consolidation process.

Non-cantrolling interests ("NCI") arc measured initially st their proportionate share of the acquirec's identifiable net asscts at the date of acquisition.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a Joss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

When control is lost over a subsidiary, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilitics and any related NCI and other components of equity of that subsidiary.
Any resulting pain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

Business combinations

Under the requirements of IFRS 3 (revised), alt business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition metkod. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of u subsidiary is the fair value of the assets transferved, the Liabifities ineured and the cquity interests issued by the Group. Identifiable asscls
acquired, liabifities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition related costs
are expensed as incurred. An intangible asset, such as a brand, is recoguised if it meets the definition of an intangible asset under LAS 38 *Intangible assets’. The
excess of the cost of the acquisition over the fair value of the Group's share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

Goaedwill and other intengible assets

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accwimulated impairment losses. The
estimated usefu! life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on
a prospective basis, Intangible assels with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carricd at cost less accumuldated impainment losses.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions is capitalised, lield on the balance sheet indefinitely and subject to an impairment review, both annually and when there is an
indication that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Acquired contracts are separately identified from goodwill acquired as part of 2 husiness combination and are initialiy stated at fair vatue as at the seguisition
date. The fair value atiributable is determined by discounting the expected fature cash flows to be generated from that asset at the risk adjusted weighted average
cast of cepital appropriate 1o that iitangible psset. The assels ace emortised on a straight line basis over heir estimated useful lives which range from 9 to 15
years,

Acquired computer software (defined a3 software that is not considered an integral part of the hardware equipment) is capitalised on the basis of the casts
incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific asset {estimated useful life not exceeding three years).

Brands are separately identified from goodwill acquired as pert of o business combination and arc initially stated at fair value gs at the acquisition date. The fair
value attributable is determined by discounting the expected future cash flows to be generated from that assel at the risk adjusted weighted average cost of capital
appropriafe to that intangible asset, The agsets are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated nseful lives which range from § to 15 years,

Revenue

The Graup generates revenue from the provision of medical services to privately insured, sell-pay and NHS-funded patients at facilities Jocated aeross the UK.
At a hospital level revenue is measured by patient type, being inpatient, outpatient and day case. The key driver for invaicing and accounting recognition is the
customer to whom ihe service is being provided. Management is required to {ake all relevant faclors and circumstances into account when determining Lhe
revenue recognition methods that appropriately depict the transfer of contral of goods or services to the eastomer for each performance abligation. This requires
marnagement to make certain judgements, including: the determination of the pecformance obligatioas in the contract; the estimate of any variable consideration
in deterntining the contract price; the allocation of the price to the performance obligatiens inherant in the contract; and an appropriate method of recognisiog
revenue.

In determining the appropriate method of recognising revenue, imanagement are required to make judgements as to whether performance obligations are satistied
over a period of time or ot a point in time, For performance obligations that are satisfied over a period of time, judgements are made as to whether the awput
method or the input method is more appropriate to measure progress fowards complete satisfaction of the performance abligation. If performance obligations are
not satisficd over time, the Group recogniges revenuc at a point in time,

Revenue, which is measured as the fair vale of cansideration received for the activity performed, represents the towal amounts derived primarily from the
provision of healthcare services in the UK, aficr deducting vahze added tax (wWhere services provided are nat exempt).

The Group recagniscs contruct liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance abligations and reports these amounts as other
fiabilitics in its consolidaled statement of financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance obligation before it receives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a contract assel or a receivable in its consolidated statement of financial position, depending on whether something other thau the
passage of time is required before the consideration is due.

Managemens: has undertaken a detailed assessment of all revenue streams using the five-step approach specified by IFRS 15:
« Identify the contraci(s) with the customsr

- [dentify the performance oblgations in the centract

+» Determiine the transaction price

+ Allacate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

+ Recognisc revenuc when (or as) a performance obligation is satisficd
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2. Accounting policles {contloned)
Revenue (continucd)
Revenue can be broken down into the fallowing main categories:
NHS Hospital Pravision (any qualified provider and direct contracting)

Any provider who is able to provide a specific service that meets the required minimun standards can be listed as & possible provider to deliver healthcare on
behalf of the MHS at nationa! tariff, Patients choose their preferred provider under the national e-referral system (formerly the Choose and Book system).

Following the patients’ treatment and subsequent discharge from hospilal, the Group will invoice the relevant Intergrated Care Board ("ICB") dircctly at tanifl for
the medical procedure performed and recognise the applicable revenue. The performance of the treatment is the sole performance obligation {representing that
this is when the service is transferred), and so the whole tariff price is allocated to that performance ehligation. Mo provider is guaranteed any volme or
exclusivity. [n addition to any qualified provider revenue, some revenue is eamed from coatracts with the NHS Trusts, with performance of treatments being the

sole performance obligation.

The Group also ¢arned revenue from central NHS bodies and {ocal healih schemes in England, Scotland and Wales under contracts pui in place to allow the
independent secter to support the NHS during the Covid-19 pandemic.

INHS Contracts with guaranteed payments

Integrated Care contracts have a term, usually, of five years. The contract involves a ‘prime provider’ (Circle) who takes responsibility for coordinating and
managing the delivery of services across 1 Jocal health sysiem. Circle's main contracting parties are the local commissioner (ICB} and local care providers. The
contract revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its performance and is measured al the fair value of
the consideration received for activity performed {in accordance with IFRS L5).

The annual revenue refates to the year begioning 1 April and ends on 31 March in the following year. The revenue is determincd at the beginaing of the year, in
respect of the contract and any demographic growth in the local health system. The annuai revenue is spread monthly across the year in 2 manner that refiects the
proportion of tatal annual cost anticipated to be borne in that month, This is to reflect the contracts® main performance obligation of coordinating and managing
the detivery of services to patients, with the cost of (kese services incwired reflecting the completion of the performance obligation.

Private and self-pay

Revenue is recognised based on procedures performed either at contractually agreed insurance prices or self-pay rates. These are determined by the specific
procedure undertaken, The completion of the medical procedure is the sole performance obligation, and so the whole price is zllocated to that performance
obligation. In the case of Private Medical Insurer revenue, the insurance comparies pay the consultants directly ard Circle recagnises revenue for use of the
hosgpital, consumables and other clinical services which are recognised as provided.

For self-pay patients, Circle recognises revenie when the performance obligation has been satisfied.

In accordance with IFRS 15, the Company recognises revenue when performance obligations have been satisfied and for the Company this is when the services
have been provided to the Grovp operating companics. Revenue is recognised to the cxtent that the Company obtains the right to consideration in exchange for
its performance and is measured at the fair value of the consideration received for activity performed.

Other revenue streams

The Group has other revenue streams including administrative fees charged to consultants, selling medical suppties 1o third parties and roon: rental. Under IFRS
15, revenue is only recognised when performance obligations ore salisfied, whether that is the provision of administrative services or transfer of goods as part of

inventory sales,

Exceptional administrative expenses

The Group presents certain material exceptional items and fair value adjustients separately in the income statement, if they are material because of their size or
their nature (such as acquistion related costs). The Directors consider that the separalc reporting provides a clearer understanding of the Group's underlying
performance,

Finance costs

Finance costs are recagnised on an effective interest rate basis in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are directly atributable to the
acquisition or production of a qualifying asset which takes a substantial periad of time to get seady for intended use, such as the constniction of a hospital. Is
such cases, borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset from the first date on which expenditure is incurred for the asset, provided the asset is
determined to be economically viable. Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are complete.
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Accounting palicies (continued)
Investments

Investments in subsidiaries are valued at cost less pravision for impairment. The carrying value of fixed asset investments is reviewed for impairment when
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.

[nvesiments in associales and joinl ventures are acoounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction costs.

The carrying amount of the investment in associates and joint ventures is increased or decreased ta recognise (he Group’s share of the profit or loss and ather
comprehensive income of the associate and joint venture, adjusted where r y to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses ou fransactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those
entitics. Where unrcalised losses are ¢liminated, the underlying assct is also tested for impairment.

Froperty, plané and equipment

Iroperty, plant and equipment are stated at historical cast Tees accnrmlated depreciation and inipainment, osses. Historical cost comprises all amounts directly
attributable to making assets capable of eperating as intended, including development costs and borrowing casts where relevant.

Depreciation is provided an all categories of property, plant and equipment with the exception of freehold land and assets under construction (see below).
Depreciation is based on cost less estimated residual value and is provided on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the assct as follows:

- Leasehold improvements -- shorter of lease life or expected useful life (§-50 years)

- Clinjcal equipment —3 1o 15 years

- Furniture, fittings and office equipment, {including comnissioning costs) — 3 to 10 years

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of the lease term and the useful life of the underlying assel. If a lease jransfers ownership of the
underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to cxercise a purchase option, the refated right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the useful life of the underlying asset.

Residual values and useful lives ave reviewed at the end of each reporting period. The expected useful lives of the assets to the business are reassessed
periadically in the light of experience, The carrying values of preperty, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes af
circumstances indicate the <arrying value may not be recoverable. An item of property, plant and equipment is derccognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expecled (o arise from tite continued use of the assel. The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an asset is delermined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit ar loss.

Assets under construction

Devalopment costs which are directly aitributable to the development of property atc capitalised as part of the cost of the propexty. The commencement of
capitaiisation begins when development costs for the praperty are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset ready for use are in
pragress. Capitalisation ceases when all the activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for use are complete.

Commissioning costs comprise staff, property, cansultancy and operational costs directly related to the commissioning of new build hospitals. Such costs are
capitalised, provided the asset is determined to be economically viable, up to the point that the commissioning is complete and the hospital is fully apen for
Dbusiness, subsequent to which further such expenditure is charged to the income stalement. Once commissioned, the asset is reclassified from ‘Asscts under
construction’ to the relevant property, plant and equipment category and depreciated on a straight tine basis in accordanee with the estimated useful lives os
outlined in the previous property, plant and equipment significant accounting policy.

Bupalement of goodwill, other intangible assets and property plant and equipment

For impainment testing purpases, assets are grouped 2l the lowest levels for which Mere are largerly independent cash inflows (cash-generating unils). As a resall,
some assets are tested individuatly for impairment and sowe are tesled at cash-generating unit level Goodwill arising from a business combination is allccated to
cash-generaling units or groups of cash-generating units thal are expected 1o benefit from the synergies of the combiration and represent the lowest level within
the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or not yet available for use bave been allacated are tested for
impairment at least annually. All cther individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impainmnent whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount may nel be recoverable.

Recaverable amount is the higher of fair valug less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flaws are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for whicls the
eslimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset {or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset {or cash-
generating unif) is reduced 10 ig recoverable amount. An impairmenl foss s recognised immedialely in the Income statement.

Imspairment losses for cash-gencrating units reduce the first the carrying amount of any goadwiill allocated ta the cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairnent
loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating unit.

With the exeeption of goodwill, all asscts are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. Where
an impaiment loss subsequently reverses, the camying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is tncreased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been detcrmined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset {or cagh-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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2. Accounting policies (contlnued)
L.cases

The Graup assesses whether & conlract is ar cohtains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use assei and a corresponding lease
liability with respect to all lease arrangements in whicl it is the lesseo, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease terin of 12 months or less) and
leases of fow value assets (such as tablets and personal computers, smal jtems of othice turmiture and telephones). kor these leases, the Group recognises the
lcase payments as an operating expense on a straight-line hasis aver the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more represcutative of the time
patiern ju which economic benefils from the leased assels are eonsumed.

The lease hiability is initially measured at the present value of the lease paymients that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate
implicit in llie lepse. 1f this rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate,

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:

+ Fixed tease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

* Variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
* The amount expected to be payable by the lessec under residual value guarantees;

+ The exercise price of purchase options, if' the lessee is reasonably certain lo exercise the options; and

+ Payments of penaltics for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to teuninate the lease,

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position,

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amaount to reflect inleresl on the lease liability (using the effective interesi melkod) and by
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lkease payments made,

Remeasuremen of feases
The Company remeasures the Jease linbility {and makes a coresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

» The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of exercise of u purehase option, in
which case the lease liability is measured by discounting the 1¢vised lease paymenlts using a revised discount rate. The revised discount rate is the interest rate
implicit in the leasc for the remainder of lease term or if that cannot be determined then (he incremental borrowing rate at date of reassessment,

+ The lease payments change due 1o changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guatanteed residual valge, in which cases the lease
liability is remcasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a chauge in a
floating interest rate, in which case a revised discaunt raie is used). When lease payments are revised due to changes in an index or rate used to determine the
payments the Group shall remeasure the lease liability only when there is a change in the cash flows.

+ A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not nccounted for a5 4 separate lease, in which case the lease liability is remeasured based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the commencement day, less any
lease incentives received and any inifial direct costs. They are subsequentiy measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment fosses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for casts 1o dismantle and remove a leased assel, restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to
the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, & provision is recognised and measured under LIAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate 1o a right-
of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depréciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the right-of-use assel. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying
asset or the cost of the right-ofause asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise & purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated aver the useful

life of the undesiying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the fease.

The Group applics IAS 36 o determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss in line with the Tmpairment of
goodwill, ather intangible assets and praperty plant and equipment’.

Inventorics

Inventories, primarily medical consumables, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises purchase price less trade discounts, and is
determined on a first-in, first-ou( basis. Net realisable value means cstimated selling price, less all costs incurred in marketing, selling and distribution. Obsaolete
and slow maving stock is provided for in the income statement,

Where title never transfers to the Grovp, consignment stock is held off batance sheet.

Financial instromments

Recognition ang derecopmition
Financiel assets and financial liabHities arc recognised when the Group becones a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument,

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights ta the cash flows from the financial asset expive, or when the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial Lability is derecopnised when it is oxtinguished, discharged, cancelled, or expires,
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Accounting polleies (continued)

Financial instruinents (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial agsets
The Group’s financial asscts include trade and other receivables,

Tixcepl for those trade receivables that do not cowlain a significant financing component and are measured al the transaction price in accordance wilh IFRS (5, all
financial assets are initially measured at fair value adjusted for transaction costs (whers applicable).

Financial assets, pther than those designited and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into one of the following categories:
samartised cost

+fair value through profit or toss (FVTPL), ar

+fair value through other comprehensive incoms (FVOCT,

In the periods presented the Group does not have any financial asscts categorised as FVTPL or FVOCI.

The classification is determined by hath:

«the entity's business mode! for managing the financial asset, and
+the contractusl cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All revene and expenses relating to financial pssets that are recognised in profit or loss are presented within finance costs, finance income or other financial
iters, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within administrative expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financia! assets at amortised cost
Financial assels are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (2nd are not designated as FV'IPL):

« they are held within a business model whose abjective is ta hold the financial assets and collect its contractual cash flows, and
« the contractual terms of the financial assels give rise to cash flows that ave solely payments of principal end interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Afier initial recognition, these are measurcd at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is
immaterial.

Impairment of financial assels

The Group and Company applics the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected eredit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss ailowance for ail trade
receivables and contract asseis. Each entity uses & formula to calculate the expected credit loss. Frade receivables have been grouped based on shared
characteristics (e.g., payer type). Different credit risk ratings have been applied to cach grouping, including to reflect that credit risk increases as the aging of debt
increases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type to reftect the varying credit risk. This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of default,
and the anticipated shortfall of cash if default occurs.

Classification and measurement of financial Jiabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities inclade borrowings and trade and other payables.
Financial fiabilities are initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs,
Subsequently, financial fiabilities are measured at amortised cost using the ettective interest method,

All interest-related clarges and, iTapplicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in profit or toss arc included withir finonce costs or finance
income

Borrowings are classificd as current liabiltites unless the Group has an wnconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the
reporting period.
Cash and cask equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, overnight deposits other short-term highly liquid investiments svith original
maturities of three months or less,
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2. Accounting policles (cantinued)

Refirement bencfit plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schenies are charged as an expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are dealt with as paymenss to defined contribution schemes where the Company's obligations under the schemes are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement bepefjt scheme.

The Group sponsors 2 funded defined benctit pension plan for qualifying UK employees, General Healthcave Group Limited Pension and Life Assurance Plan.
‘The Plan is administered by GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited, an independent trustee. The Trustee is required by law to act in the interest of all relevant
beneficiarics and is responsible for the investment policy for the assets and the day-to-day admipistration of the benefits,

The Group's defined berelil plan closed to fiature accreals and menzbers with effect from 31 August 2008, Under the Plan, employees are entitled to annual
pensions on retirenient at age 65 for each year of service, The level of benefils accrued by members is based on the length of their Pensionable Service and their
Pensionable Salazies at the earlier of the date en which they left the Plan or the dale at which the Plan closed to the future accrual of benefits.

A full actuarial vatuation was carried out as at 30 Seplember 2021, The present value of the defined benefit obligation and the related current service cost were
measured using the projected unit credit method. The prajected unit credit methad is an accrued benefits valuation melhod in which the sclieme liabitities make
aHowance for projected earnings.

During 2019 the Truslees used the scheme assets to procure a bulk annuity to cover the current and future pension liabilities buy in.

The Group's net obligation in respect of detined benefit plans is calculated by estimafing the amount of future benelit that employees have eamed in the current
and prior periods, discounting that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets.

The calculation of year end defined benefit abligations is performed annually by a qualified actuary by using (he projected unit credit method in the September
actuarial valuation, rolled forwarded to the year-end date witli allowance made for changes in market conditions. When the calculation results in the fair value of
the plan assefs heing greater than the prescnt valuc of the defined bencfit obfigation, a surplus is created, The recognised asset s lintited to the present value of
ecanomic benefits available in the form of any future refunds fram Lhe plan or reductions in fubire contributions to the plan. To calculale the present valye of
economic benefits, consideration i given ta any applicable minimem funding requirements. The Group does not expect to derive economic benefit frons such
surpluses and as a result gains from a surplus pesition are not recognised in other comprehensive income.

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on plan assets {excluding interest) and the effect of the
asset ceiling {if any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in OCL The Group determines 1he net interest expense (income) on the net defined benefit
liability (assct) for the period by applying the discount rate used Lo measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the then net
defined bencfit liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined benefit lisbility (assef) during the periad as a result of contributions and henefit
payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related fo the defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss.

Taxation

Tax exponse camprises current and deferred tax, The charge for current income tax is based on the results for the year, as adjusted for items which are taxable or
deductible in other accounting petiads and itenis not taxed or disallowed. The charge is calculated using tax rates that lave been enacied or substantively enacted
by the end of the reporting peried.

Deferred tax is acconnted for using thie liahility method in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the tax bascs of asscis and liabilities,
and their carrying amounts in the cansolidated financial statements. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised far all taxable temporary differences and
deflrred tax assets are recognised 10 the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such assets ard lisbilitics are not recognised if the temparary difference is due to the initial recognition of goodwill or frem the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a lransaction (other than a business combination) which at the time of the transaction dees not affect either tazable or accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recaogaised for laxable temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures and essosiates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is prabable that the emporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset cutrent tax assets against current tax Habilities and when the
deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxatian authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities where

there is an inlention to settke the balances on a net basis.

Deferred tax is calcuiated at the tax rates that are expected 10 apply ta the period when the asset is realised or the liability is scttled using rates enacted, or
substantively enzcted, at the ¢nd of he reporting period. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the consolidated income statement, except to the extent that it
relates to items recognised n other comprehensive income ar directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income ot directly
in equity, respectively.

The carrying amount of deferred lay assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no langer probable thal sufficient laxable
profits will be available to 2llow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recavered,
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2.

Accaunting policles (continued)
Provisions for other liabllities and charges

Provisions are recognised when the Group or Company has a present obligation in respect of a past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to scttle the obtigation and it can be reliably cstimated. Pravisions are discounted where the time value of money is considered to be material, using an
appropriate rate that rellects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation, The unwinding of the discount is

recognised as a finance cost.

Dividends

Erividend distribution to the Campany's shareholders is recognised as a lisbility in the Group's and the Company’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders,

Shave capltal

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Procceds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited o share capital (nominal value) and
share premium {for any proceeds in excess of nominal valuc).

Shared based payments

The long-term stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited allows for awards to be made in the form of options,
resizicted stack, resuricted stock units, stock appreciation riglts und any other stock-based awards, The Circle grants under this plan solely relate to RSUs and
P8Us over $0.001 par value common siack in Centene Inc. and are recounted for as equity-seitled share-based scheme.

The grant date fair value of share-based payments awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee expense, with a corresponding increase in equity,
over the period in which the employees become unconditionally entitled 1o the awards. The fair value of the awards granted is estimated on the date of grant as
the share price at that date. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual tumber of awards for which the related service and non-market
vesling conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount yltimately recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do meet the related
service and non-marke performance ¢onditions at the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair valug of the
sharc-bascd payment is measured to reflect such conditions and {here is no tue-up for differcnces between expeeted and nctual outcomes.

Critlcal judgements and accounting estinates

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policics, the Dircctors make judgements and estimates concerning the future. The resulting aceounting
estimates will, by definition, seidom equal the relased actual results. The judgements and estimates that have the tnost significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the consalidated financial statemeats, and could have a material impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements Io applying the Group’s acconnting polieles

i, Tax

The recognition, of deferred tax assets is dependent upun management judgement of the Level of (uture taxable profits that will be avatlable against which
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such a judgetent is based on cash flow forecasts that have been generated, along with their expectations of
future marke( perfarmance. In the event that actual taxable profits are different, such differences may impact the carrying value of such deferred tax assets in
future years. Based on the estitnates used in determining the deferred tax asset posilion there remains £102.12 million unrecognised.

Critica] accounting estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of cauging a material adjustment ta the carrying amounts of
nssets and labilkities within the nexs financial year ave discussed below:

i.  lmpairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment, Right of Use assets, and other intangible assets are considered for impairment if there is any reason to believe that impairment
may be necessary, based on the judgement of management. All hospital fixed assets are allocated into cash-generating units {CGUs), being each individual
hospital operation, and tested for impairment, if any indicators of impairment exist.

At 31 December 2022, Property, plant and equipment, Right of Use, and other intangible assets were considered for impairment. The Group assessed whether
indicators of impairment existed for each CGU und wiere indicators existed the Group assessed the recoverabie values of cach CGU using forecasts of the
profitability and the anticipated maintenance capital expenditure for each hospital. Refer to note 13 for sensitivities performed.
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Revenue
An analysis of the Group's revenue s as follows:

Cantnuing eperations
Provision of healthcare services by customer
Private insured patients
NHS patients
Self-pay patients
Other patients
Other revenue

Levenue spiit by patievt type:

Inpatient
Outpatiem
Day casc
Other revehue

Exceptional administrative expenses

Impairment losses
Acquisition and integration costs
Other exceptional items

2022 2021

£'000 £000

461,198 415,483

325,957 364,625

250,734 228,740

17,064 8416

29,771 34,377

1,091,724 1,051,642

2022 2021

£000 £000

409,823 327,966

312,616 277,092

301,896 249,439

67,389 197,145

1,091,724 1,051,642

Income statement Tax impact Inconte statement Tax impact
2022 2022 202% 2021
£000 £000 £7000 £'000
37,901 - 7,381 -
504 (2) 4,101 -
680 (&3] 117 [eo)]
9,175 {39} 11,609 (22)

I both the current and prior year, the exceptianal costs recognised were in relation lo impairment charges following the annua! impairment review of the assets
carried out at the year end. See notes 11 and 13. Acqusition and integration costs relate to the intergration of BMI Healthuare fellewing the acquistion by the
Group, Expenses continue to be incurred us a result of the ongoing CMA requirements relating to the Birmingham market. Other exceptional items include site

closure costs and debt vefinancing costs.

Cash flow impact of exceptionals

The cash flow impact for exceptional acquisition costs was an outflow of £547,000 (2021: £2,883,000). The cash flow impact of other exceptional items was an

outflow of £680,000 (2021: £117,000).
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Operating profit for the year

Operating prafit is stated afier charging/(crediting):

Amortisation of intangible assels (mote 11)

Depreciation of property, plast and equipment {note 13)
Cost of sinek recagnised as expense

Auditor’s remuneration (ses befow)

Movenent in provision for bad debts (nate 18)
Operating lease charges

Exceplional operating items (noitc 5)

Remuneration payable o the company's auditor ;

Fees payable to Company's auditor for the parent Cempany and
consolidated financial statements

Fees payabte to the Company's auditor for oiher setvices

— The audit of Company's subsidiaries
— Advisory services

Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees during the year (including executive ditectors) was:

Management and adininisirative
Clinical and hospital support

Their aggregete termuneration comprised:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Defincd contribution pension costs (sce nole 27)

Key manag personnel compensation

Short-term employee bonefits
Post-employment benefits

Long-term benefits

Termination bencfits

Parent company long tetmn stock plan charges

2022 2021
£:000 £7°000
8,672 11,805
96,520 93,651
13,816 191,976
675 733
905 (633)
487 4
33,178 {1,609
2022 2021
£'000 £'000
193 195
478 535
3 3
675 733
2022 2021
Number Number
554 559
8,306 7,875
8,860 8,474
2022 2021
£000 £1000
361,801 327,655
31,134 26,179
13,869 10,037
403,804 363,871
2022 2021
£+o00 £000
54037 6,519
22 56
10,486 -
15,545 6,575

Dhring the year, management has reassessed the application of LAS24 in respect of Key Management Personnel, This previously included the Directors of the
company only. Following the acquisition of the BM! Healthcare group in 2020 and the subseguent integration of the businesses and establishment of the new
governance structure in 202, management now assess Key Management Personnel (o inciude the board of directars and a number of other key personnel
responsible and involved in key commirtees taking decisions relating to diresting the operations of the Group. The table above reflects the compensation,

including long tenn incentive awards pranted under Centene stock plans, for this group for both the years ended 31 December 2022 and 202 1.
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Staff costs (continued)

Directors' vemuneration

2022 2021

£'000 £'000
Aggregate emoluments 2,291 2,671
Company contributions tn maney paschase pension schemo 3 6
2204 2,677

Directors” emolaments relate to the company's Directors, who are remunerated by Circle Health Holdings Limited, CHG Management Services Limited or Cirele

Health Groop Limited.

Past-employmeni henefits are accruing for one director (2021: one director) under a defined contribution scheme.

The emolinents disclosed above include the following antounts paid 1o the highest paid Director:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Aggregate emalkimenis 1,121 5114
Company contributions te money purchase pension scheme 3 6
1,124 1,120

The Directors of the company are also directors or officers of a number of other companies within the ultimate parent group and are remunerated in respect of
services provided 1o the Circle Health Holdings Group. The Directors do not consider the time spent on individual company matters lo be material and therefore
have not sought ta separate out their costs in respect of services o each individual company in the Circle Group, The amounts disclosed above are the Divectors’

total emoluments as per their employment contracts.

Finance income

2022 2021

£'000 £000

Interest income 336 54
336 54

Finance costs

2022 2021
£000 £:000

Interest expense under IFRS16 on iease liabitities* 126,714 119,366
Interest on bank averdrafts and loans 17,074 18,010
137,788 137,376

#£119,3 million (2021: £118.5 million) relates {o the interest expense incurred on 1FRS 16 right of use properties and £1.4 million (2021: £0.9 million) refates to

the interest expense incurred on [FRS 16 right of use equipment assets held on finance leases.

Interest on bank overdrafis and loans includes £6.6m of finance costs written off as part of the Group's debt refinancing (note [9).

£
£
}
i
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10.  Tax on loss on ordinary activities:
‘Fhe tax charge/(credit) is based on the less for the year and campriges:
Caorporation income lax:
Current tex at 19%
Adiystmient i respect of prior yra
Deferred tax:

Current year charge/(credity
Adjustment in respect of prier years

Tatal tax an loss on ordinary activides
Tax charge in other comprehensive inconte

Tax charge/(rredit) recognised in other comprenhiensive incume
Effects of change in rate of tax

Total tax In other comprehensive income

Loss befare tax:
Tatal operations
Less: profit of joint ventures and associates

Group logs on ordinary activities o continvdng dperations before tax

Tax at the UK corporation (ax rate of 19%
Eftects of:

Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit
Incame thal is not 1axabic

Disposal of assets

Movement in deferred tax noi recognised

Deferred tax recognised in equity

Effects of change in rate of tax

Adjustment to tax charge/{credit) in respect of previous periods

Tax charge/{credit) and effective tax rate for the year on continuing operations

2022 2021
£000 £080
194 (8213
(603} 202
(409} (619)
110,819) 1,719
4,243 174
(6.576) 1,893
(6.985) 1274
(112 -
33} -
(145) -
{87,350) (51,402)
{1,691) (4,105)
(89841 (55,507
{16,918) €10,546)
5,690 1,069
(1,608) (1,827
(395) (618)
2,049 10,604
145 -
612 2,216
3,640 376
{6,935} 1,274

The tax raic for the current year and prior year is 19,0%, The Finance Act 2021 has increased the rate of corporation tax to 25,0% from | April 2023, As this

change was substantively enacted at the balauce shect date its effect has been included in these financial siatements,
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Intangible assets

The amortisation charge for the year is included within the Consoldated Statement of Comprehensive Income within adminisuative expenses before exceptional

items.
Contracts and
Stakeholder Coitiputer

Cost Brand relationships software Tatal

£000 £000 £:000 £000
As at 3 Decembher 2020 20,600 40,600 14,3659 71,569
Additions - - 1022 1,022
Transfers from tangible fixed assels - - 544 544
As at 31 December 2021 20,600 40,600 11,935 73,135
Additions - - 857 857
Disposals - - (68) {68)
Transfers from langible fixed assels - - 4} 41
As at 31 December 2022 0,600 40,600 12,765 73,965
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
As at 31 December 2020 4,965 5,492 4,460 14,917
Amortisation charge for the period 2,040 4,511 5,254 11,805
As at 31 December 2021 1,005 10,003 9,714 26,722
Amartisation clarge for the period 2,040 4,537 2,096 8,672
Disposal - - {49) (49)
Impairment - - 2 2
As at 31 December 2022 9,045 14,540 11,763 35348
Net book amount
At 31 December 2021 13,595 30,397 2221 46413
At 31 December 2022 11,555 26,060 1,002 38,617

Intangible asscts that are subject to amortisation are considered for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
nct be receverable.

Contracts and Stakeholder relationships

Circte holds several contracts with a number of ICBs which allow the Company to pravide specific clinical services. The contracts attract value given the
exclusivity they provide Cirele with regard (o service provision.

The value of these contracts are amortised aver nine years from April 2017, the dats that they were acquired, which represents the estimated remaining economic

useful life of the contracts.

On the acquisition of BMT Healthcare a further £37 million was recognised under this category, which represents relationships with practising medical
professionabs held by BMI Healtheare as at the 8 Jaowary 2020, This agset is being amortised over nine years.

Brand
Circle has a well-known and respected brand in the aveas where it operates haspitals. 1t is also known acress the UK in the healtheare industry among consullants

and suppliers.

The valug of the brand is amortised over 15 years from April 2017, which represents the estimated remaining economic useful life of the brand. The value of the
Circle brand is apportioned across the different cash generating units (CGUs) of the Graup.

On the acquisition of BMI Healthcare a further £5 miltion was recognised under this category, which represents accounting value attributed to the BMI
Heaitheare brand. This is being amortised over five years.

Cowmputer software
Computer software represents costs incurred in refation to the Group's information lechnology systems and is being amorlised over periods no mare than 3 years,
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12, Goodwill
£000
Net Book Amount as at 31 December 2020 147,478
Net Book Amount as at 31 December 2021 47478
147,478

Nel Buuk Asmount 8s 4t 31 December 2022

Goodwill is subject to impairment testing annually, or mote frequently where there are indications that the goodwiil may be impaired. The recoverable amounts
of all cash generating units (CGUs) are determined based on value in use caleulations, using discounted pre-tax casl: flow projeciions based on management
approved financial forecasts for the periad of the contract. e key assumprions for tese forecasts ave those relating to revenue growth and decline, brased on
past experience and expectatians of future changes in relevant CGUs, The Group prepares cash Jow forecasts derived from the most recent financial plans
approved by management for the peried of the contract,

The time period over which management has projected cash flows varics based on each CGU, based on the financial plans approved by management. The
financiaf plans reflgct past experience and incorparaie assumptions in ferms of volurites, the nix of patient ireatments and lariff changes. This lakes into
cousideration contract lengths. Any projections for future years beyoud the perlod in financial plans approved by management are extrapolated st a growth rate of
2% based on past experignce and future expectations. The discount rate used is 8.35% (2021: 8.38%), which is the estimalcd weighted average cost of capital for
the Group. All CGUs are funded using the Group's senior fzeilities and therefore the Group discount rate has been applied to alt CGUs in determining the value

in use for impairment.

The Group has conducted a sensilivity analysis on the carrying value of each of the CGUs. There are no reasonably possible changes in the key assumptions that
could couse the carryiig vatue of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amounts.

Pased on the result of the value in use calculations undertaken, the Directors conclude that the recoverable amount in the integrated carc and private hospitals
COUs exeeed their carrying value.

Alloeation of Goodwlll to each CGU
2022 2021
£1000 £2000
Private hospitals (ineluding BMI Healthcare business acquisition) 146,688 146,688
Integrated care : 790 790
147478 147 478

Goodwill has been allocated to each CGU hased on an implicd purchase price for each CGU during the acquisition by Circle Healih Hoidings Limited, and the
net assets |ield by each CGU at that time, A discounted cash flow approach was used to assist in altocating the purchase price to those CGUs.
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11 Property, blant and cquipmcm

Cast

At 1 January 2011
Additions

Disposais

Traasfers

Transfers 10 ingzngible assets
At 31 Drecetuner 204l and b Jahuary 2022
Additions

Disnosals

Transkrs

Transfers W mknpible asses
At 31 Mecernber 2021

Accumulated depreciation and lupaiemend

Al 1Jannary 2021
Depraciation chargs for the year

Disposals

Taansfers

Inspairment (obaryee)Vreversal

ALM Deeeriber 1821 and | January 2022
Dieprexiation charge for the year

Dispersals

Transfers

Eupaimmcet {charecire versal

AL 3] Decenber 1012

Net baok asugum
A1 3L Devenber 2021

At 3 Decempber 2011

Righl-of-use aasezs

Furniiure, Furnlturs,
Baildings and fitlngs aud fittdngs and
Agiels under leaschald Clinlea) office Cilnleal office
Bulldings equipraent egulpment Total
£000 f'ona £000 £'000 008 £'000 £M000 £909
15,100 109,867 58,590 9141 663,132 16,392 113 1.893.045
25,83 19,430 15,632 5384 45,128 19,762 - 138,069
(28) (29) {22 ) (64,016) - (2,785) 66,4123
(2,170) 5355 {5.613) (2,548} - (1,372) 272 .
(544) - . - - - . (5447
57,981 133,621 72,517 11,855 1,644,124 34,782 2,264 1,957,158
22,843 17831 18,795 2955 42,426 16,312 ~ 128212
{2,531 {6,665 (5.102) {2431 {6.310) 1n {172) (22.296)
(18.040) 16,266 1e19 155 - - - -
<+ - - - - - 41y
612 151,105 87,139 21,122 1,679,730 51,081 2,094 2,063,133
Furaiture, Futnitare,
Dulldingy ond Nittlogs and fiutings ang
Asstly under ieaschotd Clinleat office Clizlcal affice
tonstruction Inipravemients j i) i Total
£/000 £2000 £'000 £400 000 £800 £'000 £1000
- {7,568} %337 18,382) {97.886) (6,698) (19 {127 161)
- (10,703) (16,508) (1,521} {60,359y G917 {423) 153,651}
- - 15 1 4,116 - 1,028 5821
- - 263 (153 - 263 €19 -
{2,632) 435 677 g (7,250) 1,289 - {1,398
{2,622) {17.818) (I2415) (3:.283) (160,919) (063 {506) (232,582)
- (IL546) (15.008) (4021) (58.822) {8.743) {182} 195,520}
- 266 $.101 289 1555 12 - £313
- 4 (899) 585 - R . N
(584) {1,850 {6,149 (x72) {25,978 (A28 (35) (7,899)
{3,218) (30,659 {39,968} {12431) (243,162} {18,220 k) (348 718!
55,349 Lszey . Sell3 2,643 1483305 25,19 L 760 1,I34676
56,336 130446 ATTFTL 9.& l!ﬂﬁélﬂ 31,861 1,171 1.7“.35_5

The cashflow forecasts used in the prior year inppainment reviews were reviewed against actual perfarmance, Where indicators of impaimenl exist, impairment tests were performed
using the recoverable amonnts of the assets' cash-generating units. Each hospital is deemed to be its own CGU. The discount rate us¢d in measuring vatue in use was 8.35% per
annum {pre-lax) {2023 8.38%). The Company also estimaled he fair vaJue Jess costs of disposal of these asscts, which is based on the recenl marke) prices of assets with similar age
and ebsolescence. The fair value less costs of disposal is less than the value ip use and henee the recoaverahle amount of the relevant assets hias been determined on the basis of their

value iz use.

CGUs that recorded an impainnent charge was 25 a result of specific local market conditions impacting volume of future trading. The impainnent charge for the year was £37.9
million (2021: £11.3 millior) and the impairment reversal was £uil (2021; £3.9 million), with the net impairment charge of £37.9 million (2025: £7.4 million) recognised in the

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The Group has conducied a sensitivity

carrying value, as follows:

is on the t

and intang]

= I the pre-tax WACC rate was increased/decreased by £.0 percenlage point, the overall irapairment would {increase}/decrease by (£7.8) million/£9.0 million,

ible assets impairment test of the CGlis where there are indicalors of impairment nnd the group of unils
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14, Investments

Details of the investments in which Cizcle Health Holdings Limited holds 20.00% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital.

Proportion of

Company name vating rights  Share Reglstered office Nature of husiness

held class
Subsidiary undertakings
Cirele International pke 100% Halding
CHG Managemen!t Services Limited 100% Holding and managenient
Matious Healthcase Limited 100% Holding
Circle Nottingham Limited 100% Provision of healihcare services
Circle Hospital {Reading) Limited 100% Provision: of heallhcare services
Circle Birmingham Limited 100% Provision of heallkcare services
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 100% Provision of healtheare services
Circle Health 1 Limited*® 100% Holding
Circle Health 2 Limited 100% Holding
Curcle Tlealth; 3 Lingited 100% Hotdmg
Circle Health 4 Limited 100% Holding
GHG Healtheare Haldings Limited 100% Holding
General Healtlicare Group Limited 100% Lt Floor 30 Holding
Bishopswood SPV Limited 100% Provigion of healtheare services
Circle Health Group Limited 100% Oudinary C”"L?r";i::“t’ Provision of healtheare services

5

Circle Decontamination Limited 100% shares England, EC4M Provision of decunlamination services
BMI Syon Clinic Limited 50% 6xH Provision of Lealtheare services
General Healthcare Holdings (2) Limited L00% Investment holding
General Healthcare Holdings (3) Limited 100% Investment hotding
GHG (DB) Pension Trustees Limited 100% Pension Trustee
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 100% fnvestment kolding
GHG Leasing Limited 100% Pravision of healthcare services
North West Cancer Chinic Linited L00% Provision of healthcare services
Runnymede SPY Limited 150% Provision of hezhhcare services
GHG Mouat Alveraia Hospital Limited 100% investment holding
Generale de Sante International Limited 100% Investment holding
Cirele Clinical Services Limited 100% Pravision of healthcare services
TKH Holding Lid 100% Hoklling
Circle Health MyWay Limited 100% Health plan subscription services
Circle Holdings (08} Lintited 100% 3";'&“5"‘3’ 2o s;::; Holding

Associgte undertakings and foint ventures

BM]1 Imagiog Clinic Limited 500% Provision of healthcare services

BM]I Southend Private Hospital Limited 50% ist Floor 30 Provision of healtheare services
Meriden Hospital Advanced Imaging Centre Limited 50% Ordinary  Censon Street, Provision of healthcare servites
Three Shires Hospital LLP 50% shares Ent l];:;d[gaM Provision of healtheare services
Mount Alveria PET CT Limited 41% & prosn Pravision ot heglificare services
The Pavilion Clinic Limited 50% Provision of heafthcare services
Circle Harmony Health Limited 50% M: Services

" L. Ordinary  Ran 905806, 9/F Houston Cir, 63 .
Circle Harmony Health Limited 0% sharcs Mady Road, TST, KL, Hong Kong Management services

e , ) Rl 145, 11/F, Carlton Bldg, No.21

il.lal}lgl:!m Cirale Hamany Hospital Mansgement 50% C]hdmazy Huanghe Road, Huangpu District, Management services

tlte ShAreS  changhai, China

*Directly held by Circle Health Holdings Limited. All other entities listed are held indirectly through investments in other group companies,
See note 15 for changes in the Graup's shareholding percentage in North West Cancer Clinic Limited that occurred during the year,

Subsequent to the year end the directots of TEKH Limited entered inte a voluntavy swike off, with the company being struck off on 6 June 2623,
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L4, Investments (continued)

Subsidiary audit exemption
The following UK subsidiary undertakings are exempl friom the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 (the Act) relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtuc

of section 479A of the Act.

Company pumber

Company name
CHG Management Seryvices Timited 05042771
Nations Healthcare Limited 14523677
Circle Nottingham Limitcd 05153608
Circle Hospital (Reading) Limitcd 06995583
Circle Rehabilitation Services Limited 10527747
Circle Health ] Limited 12108495
Circle Health 2 Limited 12108525
Circle Health 3 Limited 1210843
Circle Health 4 Limited 12258549
General Healtheare Group Limited 04026073
GHG Healtheare Holdings Litnited 05740193
Bishopswood 5PV Limited 04252401
Circle Deconlamination Limited 06003075
General Heslthcare Holdings (2) Limited 04026992
General Healthcare Hotdings {3) Limited 04062897
GHG Intermediate Holdings Limited 04210585
GHG Leasing Limited 01551992
Norh West Cancer Clinic Limited 05706220
Runaymede SPV Limited 04252392
14186896

Circle Health Myway Limised

Circle Health Holdings Limited will guaraniee all outstanding liabilities that these subsidiaries are subject to as at the financial year end 31 December 2022 in accordance
with section 479C of the Companies Act 2006 as amended by the Companies and Limited Liability Partnerships (Accounts and Audit Exemptions and Changes of
Accounting Framework} Regulations 2012.

Shares In associates and joint ventures 2022 2021

£008 £'000
Catrying amount of individually immaterial associates 637 276
Catrying amowst of individually immaterial joint ventures 3,642 4,866
Total carrying amaun for equity accounted investees 4,299 5,142

The Group accounts for all its investments in associates and joint venmures in its conselidated financial stalements using the equity methad, as set out in note 3.

Individually immaterial joint venlures
2022 2021
£'000 £000
Summary of financial mformation
Prefit from i perations and fotal 1 ive income 3,902 2,535
There was no other comprehensive income or profit or loss from discantinued operations (2021: £nil) for joiut ventures beld by the Group.
Individually immaterial associates
2622 2011
Summary of financis} information £1000 £000
Profit from inuing operations and lotal comprehensive income 2,762 3,299

There was no other comprehensive income or prafit or lass from discontinued operations (2021: £nil) for associates held by the Group.
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L5, Nar-controlling interests

At 31 December 2021, the Group had 2 subsidiary undertakings with a non-controlling interest. These were BM1 Syon Clinic Limited and North West Cancer Clinic
Limited. On 30 Seplember 2022, the Graup purchased the remaining § 0% interest i North West Cancer Clinic Limited, increasing its owncrship from 90% to 100%.
Tharefore ot 31 December 2022, the Group had one subsidiary undertaking with a nen-conlrolling interest. A summary of financial information for individually
immaterial non~controlling interests are given below.

1022 2021
£'000 £1060
Total assets 8,444 4,526
Total kabifities (3,298) (1,052)
Net assets 5,146 3,483
Profit for the period 601 386
Net cash outflow (6) (6)
2022 2021
£°000 £'000
Acquistiion of NCT
Carrying amaunt of NCI acquired 459
Consideration paid ta NCI (140} -
An increase in equity attributable to owners of the company 319 -
16. Y¥nventorles
2022 2011
£000 £000
Cansumables . 17,746 17.276

There is na significant difference between the replacement cost of consumables and their carrying amount. At 31 December 2022, an amount of £2.9 miltion (2024: £3.2
million) has been provided against the gross cost of inventories,

17, Leases (Group as a lessee)

The Group has lease contracts for hospitals, fumiture, fittings and office cquipment, and clinical cquipment. The amounts recognised in the financial statements in
relatian to these are as follows;

Amounts recognised in the statement of financlal positlon 2022 2031
£:000 £000

Right-of-use assets

Buildings 1,436,618 1,483,305

Fumiture, fittings and office equipment 1,171 §,760

Clinical equipment 31,861 25,7149

1,470,65¢ 1,510,784

Lease Liabitities

Current (14,159) {8.065)
Non-current (1,703,198) (1.666.021)
{L,717,457) (1,674,086)

Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

2022 2021
£'000 £'000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Buildings 58,822 60,559
Furniture, fittings and office equipment 382 423
Clinical equipment 6,743 3,817
£5,947 64,899

2022 2021

Amounts recognised i profit and loss £000 £000
Depreciation expense on right-of-use assels 65,947 64,899
Interest expense on lease {abilities 120,714 §19,366
Txpense relating to short-term znd low value leases 487 4

The total cash cutflow for lencss during the period amount to £131 million (2021: £126 million),
The Group lenses several assels including buildings, plant and clinical equipment, The average Jease lerm is 25 years (2021 ; 26 yearss).

The Group has options to extend tease term, as well as purchase certain equipment for a nominal amount at the end of the lease term. The Group’s obligations are secured by
the lessors” title to the leased assets for such leases.
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18. Trade and other recefvyples

Currenit Current
2022 2021
£000 £4000
Trade receivables 85426 £7.219
Less: provision for jmpairment (4,656) (3,751)
Net Irade receivables 80,770 63,468
Prepayments and accrued income 1,369 2,181
Other receivables 9,819 ©,510
Tax receivable 1,215 553
93,173 75,712
The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:
2022 2021
£'000 £2000
At 1 January 3,751 4,384
Increase/{decrease) in the year 905 (633)
At 31 December 4,656 3,751

The movement in the allawance for impairment in respect of tracde receivables during the ear is reflected within administrative expenses in the incomce statement.

At 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivabies was as follows:

2022 2021

£000 £000
Mot past due 60,507 44,171
Past due 0-30 days 9,627 6,762
Past due 31-60 days 520 2,817
Past due by more than 60 days 10,026 9,718
80,770 63,468

Trade receivables, from gontracts with customers, are non-interest bearing and eredit terms are generzlly 30 days. The above receivables are not impaired because
management believe they are fully recoverable.

As per IFRS 9, the Group follows the simplified approach to cakulating a loss allowance for trade and other receivables.

Each site uses a formula 10 calculate the expected credit loss ("ECL"). The cxpected eredit losses on trade receivables are estimated using a provision matrix by
reference to past default experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s current financiak position, adjusted for factors that are specifie to the debtors, pencral
econcmic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date. Trade rceeivables have been grouped based on shared characteristics {e.g. payer type). This weighting is used as it reflects the risk of credit risk, us this risk
increases when the ape ihereases.

A different percentage allowance is used for each purchaser type to reflect the vavying credit risk, This percentage allowance reflects the likelihood of default, and the
anticipated sbortfalt of cagh if default ocowrs.

The Group has not significanily changed the expected loss rates for trade receivables from the priar year based on its judgement of the impact of economic conditions
and e forecast direction of travel at the reporting date. There has been no change in the cstimation 1echnigues during the current reporting period.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information indicating that the dehtor is in severs financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, e.g. When the debtor has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptoy proceedings, None of the trade receivables that bave been written off
are subject to enforcemen activities.

As the Group*s historical credit loss experience does not show significantly different loss patterns for different customer segments, the provision for loss aliowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's different customer segments.

The Directors cansider the carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents approximate ta their fair value.
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19, Parrowlngs

Laans
Prepaid finnoce costs

Secured borruwings are medsured al amortised cost.

The Group hield Lhrez principal bank loans as at 31 Decenber 2021:

(=) 2 Joan of £178m which carried interest at & rate ol 6.5 per cent sbove SONIA as a1 31 December 202!
{b) 8 Ioan af £20n1 which carried interest at & rato of 3.25 per cent above SONIA as at 31 December 2021
{<) o loan oF £20m which cacricd ikerest at a e of 6.5 per cent abave SONLA as at 31 Docember 2021

Non-¢urrent Non-currenl
1022 2021

£'do¢ £2000

l6l R48 19,848
1€ {5,810
164,034 713,038

0On 25 ay 2022 the Group refinaneed its scnior borrowing facilitics with a naw £230 million, theae year, revolving facility. This facility is guaraniced by the Group's ullimate parent company, Centene
Corporatium and all eovenants are measured at the consolidated Cemene Corporalion kvet An initial E1830 million of this facilily w1 dravwn on this date and this, along with £38 million of ¢cash on band, was

1sed 10 Tepay the ghove thres Inans held at 31 Decenibar 2021 in full, During this transacien, capitalisad prepaid finance costs uf £6.8m weee wiitten vil 1o the &

Incame \ithin finance costs.

dated S

f

Al the year eud, £3160m of the now faciiily remaing dmwat down. This balance carries interasi at o rate of 1,25 per cent sbova SONUA ns at 31 December 2022 aud is repayable In il on 24 May 2025.

The Group also halds & number of nnsecured Joans with VAMED Management und Service GmbH, n former sharehotder of Circle Relibilitation Services Limited. The total balance of thesz loans outstanding
as at 31 Docember 2022 and 2021 was £4 81 Interest accrues on the sulstanding faan batance ar a rite of 1.5%. Based on deeds of amendment issued in 2019, the 1oans aid neerued inteecst are pet expected to
berepayable befose 31 December 2023, No amaunts ars due in more than five years.

Seenote 2% for an analysis of (he maturity profile for the above Joans,

20, Becanciliation of llabilltles atising from financing activities

Louns snd other bocrawings
Lease liabilitieg

Total

*Non-cagh are ised of the fol

ase liabjlitias

Tha net imDacu':n lease liabilities of IFRS 16 right of use assel addilions of £58.7 million,

Loans and ofher horowines
Write off of prepaid finance casts {sec note 19) £6.6m.
Amortisation 4f prepaid finance cosls during the year £0.6nL

1. Deferred tax

At t January Non-cash At
2021 movemenry® Cash flow Deccmber 2022

£1000 £'000 £'o0a £500
(214.038) (6,016) 59,020 (161024)
{1.674,088) (53,970) 10,559 {1,717,457)
(1,888,134} 59,986y 69,615 (1378,491)

The following are the major defecred tax liabilities and assets recapnised by the group wxd moyements thereen during the curmeat and prior reportiog period.

Accelerated 1ax depreciation
Other timing differences
Leases

Land oud buitdings
Iniangibl: osgets
Derivatives

Tax lossts

et deferred rax lability

right ef us¢ osset disposals of F4.5 million and other non cash changes of £0,2 million,

4 Charge Charpe Effecis of change
Atl Adpstmeats  f{erediti lo Heredil) ta in tax rate ALl
January to incen for incame oguity to Income Deeember
2022 prior periods suatement statemenl 1022
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
{4,104) (3491 6,715 - 2,140 [,320
{5,808) 1,489 (5,262) {145 {1,478) {11.204)
1315 10,073 {1.392) - 44t 135,556
10,519 - [CX2}] - (150) 16,295
10,11 - (988) - G312 4411
22,393 - (4,936) - 390 17847
{10,293 (3828) (2,899 - (LN (33,811
11,133 4343 (9,176) (145) (1643 4412

Deferred 1ax balances bave boen remeasured i the rates thay are eapected 1o revense, which is mainly at 25%.
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21.

Tieferred tax (continued)

Certain deferred tx assels and Gabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (afier vffset) fur financial reporting purposes.

Defcrred 1ax labilities
Deferred lux ossels

022 2021
£000 £000
54417 51,337
{50.0L5) (40,200

A deferred ax liabilily of £10.30 miiion (2021 £10.92 million) has bezn recognised in respect of fixed assers that have been acquired 35 part of business combinetions. Of (his amound, £10.59
milllan (2021: £11.28 miilio.;) represents the deferred 1ax liability on the vatue of assets that will be recovered through use and £4.29 million {2024: £0.29 mitlion} the defered tav asset that is

anticipated 1o erystallise 0y an eventunl sals of te remusiaing assets at sheir ner book valug,

Deferved tax assets relating to tax losses of £101,33 million (202]: £160.11 miflion), and capital losses of £0.78 million (202{: £0.78 million) have not been recognised as there is insufficient

gyidence thal the assels will be recovered.

The deferred lax asset nal revognised in the financial slatements is as follows:
1021
Tax vaiue
£000
Tax dosses carrled farnard 101,329
Lapia) Josses e
Dechictible 1emporary diffecences — fived assets 17

§02,124

2011 2021 2021
Gross value Tax value Gross value
£000 £000 £000
403,315 140,108 400,431
HHNO ”a 310
T 157 629
408.495 101,043 404,170
——— —_——

Deferred tax asscls 00 10ssas have been racagnised in eceondancs: with 1AS 12 in arder to offcet known tax Habilittes. Whilst profits are anticipaled in future periods againsy which o ofTses
addilional brought forwird tax tosses, dno to the history of loss making and the uncerisintics faced by the private health markes and the sensitivity of this marke! to the Covid pandemie na deferred

tax asset has been recognited on the basis of future prafitability. This will cestinuc to bt monitered o1 each balance sheet date

Temporary differences arising in connection with interests in associntes and jolnt ventures are insignificant.

22, Tradeand ather payables

Trade payables

Aceruals

Sacial secunity and ollyer taxation
Other payables

The average credit days is 35 days (2021 40 days)

2022

£*000
86,119
13
204
11,310

178.756_

2011
£4000
92,596
0,211
250
6,652

169,709

Controct linbilities consist of advance payments and billings to palicnls in excess of services provided and costs incurred and wameniies on scrvices performed. Advance payments and biltings are typically associated

with our sell pay patients. 4 (1 coutmet Liabilities are current and ar.

contract liabitities is vecognised whan Pl havebeen fered.
3, Pravislons
At | January 2022

Additional provision ig the year
Uhilisatien of prowision

At 31 December 2012

OF which fafling due:

—within one year
- gubsequently

luded within other payubles. At11 December 2022 the Group bad cantmet liabilities of £3,05% million (202 1: £5,625 millica). Reveoue ot

Future
peasion
Praviston for cantmiinient Ditapldations

legaf claime 3 provision Total
£940 £:000 £'040 £360
15,725 154 1325 17,204
737 - - 7
{2,926) {36) Qo (3.262)
13,536 11 1,025 1,679
13,535 118 1.025 14,679

As i usunl in the sector, ths Group is subjest ko a munber of legal elaims. Provision has been niade for the estimated cosis of settlement, based on manngement’s besl estinmiz on a case-by-case basis of the

oulcomes of selilements, €ither in or out of court, and using a projection of the cosls of claims jncurred but nol yot reparted.

the Group's csti d furore

The defined benefit pension scheme provision

ta two defived benefit pension schemes.

The dilapidations provisien ;slutes ta amopnis due jo relation to various buildings shat weee vacated during priar years.
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24. Sharecapilal and share premium

Autherised 2021 2021
£ H
Ocdinacy shares (Class A Qrdinary Shares) of £0,01 ¢ach 945 945
Ordinary stares (Class B Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 cack 140 100
Qrdinary shares {Class C Ordinary Shares) of £0.01 each 15 10
Preference shares of £6.0} each 56,029 13,851
57!034 20,906
Alfotted ang fully paid up
Par value Shaves Share capltal Share preadum . . Tatal
Ordinary Class A shares: {number) £ £ £
Al 1 Jonuary 2021 snd 2022 a.01 94,478 945 129,812,448 129,813,393
At 31 Decerber 2021 2nd 2022 94,478 945 129!BIJ!J4B l'w!slﬂéﬁl
Par value Shazes Share capltal Share premlum ‘Total
Ordinary Class B sharas: {number} £ £
At | Tamuary 2021 and 2022 0.81 19,080 (L] 199,162 399,262
At 31 Docernber 2011 and 2022 10,000 100 399,162 399,262
Par value Sharey Sharo capital Share premium Total
Ordinary Class C sharcs: {numbzr) i L £
At L Jenuary 2021 and 2022 o001 1,000 10 - il
A1 31 Decenber 2021 snd 2022 1,000 10 - (]
—_—— e
Par vajue Sheres Share capital Share premjum Total
Preference shages: (number) £ i £
At} Jangary 2021 and 2022 0.0 1,985,075 19,851 71,264,390 71,284,241
Othes movements 001 3,617,780 36,178 (36,178) -
At 3! Pecember 2021 aed 2022 5,602,855 5&019 7l§18!112 712134!241
Righis of shares
The nghts ol shares arz contained in the Company’s Arficles of Association and surrmarised below.
Vating

The holders of A and B sbares have the right to vote thelr s hares at any general meeting of the Company. The bolders af the Prefercnce and C shares bave na eatitbement (0 vote theit shares at any general meeting of
Ihe Compaay but haye the right 1o vote a class maeting ef the Preference and C shards, respectively.

Income
The holdecs of Preferanca Shares have fbe right to dividends daclured by the Company, pravided that the smount of any dividend, In aggregate with ather dividendsand distrbutions o the holders of Preference
Shares, i nat in excass of the paid up smount of those shaces. Subject to any priority distribution of profits amangl 1lie halders of Preference Shares, the holders af A and B shares shall receive dividends pro mata lo

tha paid wp arount of thase shares. The helders of C shares have na rights 10 raceive dividends.

apit;
The rights of holders of different classes of shares to capital under differcat scenartos, including exit events, ere sci oul int Ihe Company’s Articles. The privsity of capilal is: to holders of Preference Shares, up 1o the
parid up amount of those shares; to halders af A and B shares, wilil the distribution berween shares contingent an the nature of the evenl, tie amount involved aud the rerums to dedined groups of fielders al A ond B
shares; finally, to € shares, with 1he entif 1o halders bei on the natare of the event and if the amount associstcd with the exit event invalved is in excess of defined retum huedles to sther
shareholders, in which ¢ase the € shares have the right lo parlicipate in returns abave defined hordles,

During 2021, MH Services nternationa? (7K) Linsited, which held 40 per cent of the equily of the Company, arquired the remaining 60 per cnl. This included acquiring all skares hield by Dizctors of the Company
ond other ensplayees of she Group. All these shares had been acquinst by these individuals at Falr valuc from vther sharcholders in prior periods. Tliese arangements fell within the scape of IFRS 2 and were treated
as an cqubty-seutled share based traseetion. IFRS 2 requires the fair value at grant date of equity-scttled sharsbased payent transactions 1o be expensed over the vesting period with a comresponding increase fn
equity, taking into account the bast available estimate of (he oember of shares expocted 16 vest under the serviez conditions. As the shures fully vested in 2021, o charge ol £213,000 w2s inadeto (he incoce

sttament with a correspending coedit in equity.
On 15 Tanuacy 2023 all shares were redesignaled as Ordimary shares with their rights set autin fhe Articies of Associa lon which were updated at tha: date.
Parent Company Long Term Stack Plan

The long term stock plan is a stock plan put jn place by the uliimate parest compaiy of Circle Health Holding Timited. This steck pian allaws fer awards te be made in the form of options, restricted stock, restricted
stock units, stock nppreciation rights cod any other stock-based awards, The Cirele grants under this plan solely relate ta Restricted Stock Usts ("RSUs") and Pecformancs Slack Units {"PSUs") over $0.001 par
valug commou stack in Cemene Inc, and bave no cash cost to e Circle Group.

The accounting Standards {TFRS2) require an accoumting {noa-cask charge W be made in the Fnancial statements of the Circle Group for such awards, with the correspording eredit taken Lo equity given there is no
liability for the Cirele Group for shazes awarded under the long lerm stock plan.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the ullinate parent cempany granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans to selected direetars and eplogres of the Clrcle Group.

RSUs gronved to these direclars and employess are stbject 16 forfeituse if the emnployee teminates employment priar 1o vesting conditions being satisfied. PSLs are subject ko an addilional nen-makel perfornance-
based candition which rms( be meL to allow vesting 1o occur, The level af BSU vesting is determined by the fevel of shareholder vatue generation achieved.

The weighted avemge share price al the setilement date for those for RSUs and PSTJQ setiled during the year was $92.97.

The fir value of each RSU and PSU is estimated on he date of grint as the share price od the date of grant, The fair value of RSUs granted in the year was £18,237,000. The fair valee of PSUs granted in the year
was £9,572,000.

“I'he tolal accounting charge Is eakulated based on a number of fixctors and assumptians, and Ihe aniount recorded for the year reluted to employes shase-based plune was £11,281,000.
The table below gives a reconciliation of movements in the number of R5Us and PSUSs outstanding.

1023 BSUs 2022 RSTs 2021 PSUs 2021 RSUs

Nunbers* Numiers Nuntbers Numibers
Quisianding at | Janwicy - - - -
Graated 136,225 283,485 - -
Seutled {L160) (2,132) - -
Forleiled (2,159 4,730) - -
Ouytstanding at 31 December 151,906 281,623 - -

*The PIUs vest belweea the range of 0% ond 200% dépendent on the performance ochieved against orgets sel.
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25, Disposalof subsidiary (puior period)

26,

27

In early 202§, the Group eatered into o sale agrezment te sell Cirele Hopsital (Bath) Ltd and the uansaction campleted on | June 2021, The divestmant was efected as part of the agreed remedy following the CMA

order issued as o reselt of the Group's sequisition of BAIT Healtheare in 2020

Thie net liabiliies of Circle Hospital (Bath) Ead at the date of disposal were as fattows:

Propeqiv, plant and ravipment
Tnventorics

Trade and ather raccivables
Bank balances and cash
TFrade and oiher payables

et liabililies disposed of

Gain oo dispasal

Total consideration

Satisfied by

Cash and casl: equivatents

Net cash inflow arising on disposal:

Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents
Less: cash and cash equivalenta disposedd of

MNotes ta the cash Now stalement

Net cash flow from operating activities

Laoss before fay

AdJustments for:

Skara of profit of associales end joint ventures
Tmpaimient of fixed assels (see note 5)
Finance costs

Finance income (note 8)

Amartigation of intangible assets (note 111

Depreciation of rght-of-nse groperty, plan and equipnient {note 13}

Depreciation of other praperty, plan and equipment (noic 13)
Lossé{profin) oo disposal of fixed ossets

Profit on dispasal of subgidiary (nate 25)

Amoonis vested under IFRS 2 {note 24)

Tguityeseitled share -based payment transaction (ote 24)

0| o before to working caplal

Movements inworking capilal:
« Increasa in inventories
- {Increage Wdacraass in wade and other reczivables
« Increasef(decrease) in trade and other payables

Retirement benellt pians

Defined cantellsytian scheme

The Group apanates defined comribution retirement benefit scherss for alt ity qualifying employess.

Total contribution <osts charged 1o the income siatement in [Espest

of 8,455 (2021: 9,235) members

Conmibutions totalling ££,888,000 (2021 :£) 678, 80{) were payable 1o the Fund at the reporting date.

Defined benefit schemes

Tha (ompany sponsors a funded defined benefit pension plan for qualifying UK employess, the Genernl Healtheare Croup Limited Pension spd Life Assurance Phw. The Plan is ud
Trustees Linnited, st independent trustez, The Trustee is required by law to act it the interast of all relevant benefickaries and are respensible for the invesiment policy fur the asseis

of tha benefits.

2021
£'000
21330
621
1,852
1,083
(26,284)
(1416
3,267
1
1,881
1,851
(1,060
788
2032 1011
£7000 #1000
_(87,350) {41,402y
{1,621) (4,068)
37,904 7.9t
137,788 137,376
(336) [e2)]
8672 11,805
65,947 4,899
30,573 28,752
1,767 14,307
- (3,267
. 213
11,281 -
251,902 257,354
204,552 305082
70y (350)
(18,135 5,937
13,333 (27,146
199.030
2022 2011
£7000 £600
16,869 10,037

Under the Plan, employees are entitlad 10 Aniar pensions on retirement at age 65 for each year of service. The Plan is closcd 10 future agusual, The level of bencfits accrued by members is based on the lenpth of their

Pensionable Service and Ihelr Pansjonable Salarics at the earlier of tha date on which they Telt the Plan or the date al which the Plan closed o (he fulure nccrual of beaelis.
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27. Retirement benefit plans (continued)

Profile of the plar

The Defincd Benefit Obligaton {DBO) includes benefits for former employees and current pensioners. The benafits under the Plan wore secured by way of an insurance contract with Avava in 2020, al which pont
aboul 63% of the habiliics v cre atinbutable to deferred pensioners and 37% (o current pensioners The data supplied for this exeicise indicates a 16% shift in the habilines with anly 47% of the labilities nov
auributabks 10 e deferred pensioners and 53% to the curtent pensianers

The Pai duratisn 3 ati ndisatar of the w sugheed averagz tma? mefi pmmianic are mada Rar tha Rlaa a2 v hale the dinarion ie approyimately 13 prare

Risks associated with the plun
The Plan has now sold mast of its assets and entered into an annuity coatracl with Aviva As such, many of the nisks it was previoushy ¢xposed t have been removed. Inmvestment, inflation and longevity risk are
removed as Aviva are contractually obliged W fund members' benefits m the future However, the Trustee sull retaing the legal respensibility 10 pay members' benefits to each mdividual member.

Funding reguirements
UK legislation requires that pension Plans are funded prudently The Jast funding vakiation of the Plan v as camed out by a qualified actaary as at 30 Scptember 2021 and showed a surplus of £3.7M Now that the
bus - 1s compleic, the Company 15 1o longer paying deficit contributions The Plan 1s cxpected to transition 1o buy-out in the near future and there will be no need for actuanal valuations in the luture,

Reporting at 31 December 2022
The habilties of the Scheme were valucd as at 30 Seplember 2021, using a data extract provided by the admimstrators for the purposes of valuing the benefits secured under the insurance contract. These results
were projected to the valuaton date of 31 Deeeraber 2022 allowing for changes in market conditions, and differeness in the financial and demographic assumpuons The present value of the Defined Benclit
Obligation was measured using the projected umt credit method The dursctors consider they bave a eight to any surplus assct on the final setttement of all scheme liabilitics but have not recognised an asset for this
suiplus as this 1s not considered matenal 1o the fimaneial statstnents

The prmcipal assumplions used to calenlate the liabilitics under [AS {9 arc as follaws

2022 2021

Yo Yo

Discount rate 4.8 20
Fulure pension increases 30 ENE
Pl infiavon 24 26
RPI inflation an 32

The finanzial assumpuions reflect the nature and term of the Plan’s liabalities

Mortaliyy rate

Pensioner life expectancy assumed as at 31 December 1s based ax the S2P tables with sealing lactors of 103% for male deferred pensions, (0% for male current penssoners. 91% for female deferred pensioners
and for $9% for female current pensioners Future impronements in longevity are asswmed in line with the CMT 2021 prajestion model with a smoothing factor of 7 and a long term rate of improsement of 1. 25%
pa. Samples of the ages to winch pensioners are assumed o live are as follows

022 2021
Lile expectancy. for male currently aged 65 863 86.3
Lufe expectancy for femals currently aged 63 892 89.2
Life expectancy at 65 for male curently aged 43 R73 R76
Life expectancy at 65 for female currentty aged 43 907 B0.8

Serecitiviy (o ey aysuntptions
The Loy assumptions used for [AS 19 are: discount rats, infaton and morality If different assumptions were used, s could have a materal effect on the identical values placed on the habilies and the insured
asset. The sensitivily of the resulis o these assumpuions is set out below.

Change New value

Fallowing a 0-25% decrease in the discount rate; £000 £'000
DBO at 31 December 2022 {2,129) 75,325
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7,188
Following a 0.25% increase in the inflation assumption:
DBO at 31 Decsmber 2022 1444 75.098
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7.i88
Following a one year incvease in life expectancy:
DBO at 31 December 2022 2267 79.921
Surplus at 31 December 2022 - 7188
Present valuc of obligation 2012 2021

£700¢ £'000
At begmmng of the period 118,016 125,563
Tnterest cost 2,316 1.721
Actarial lass (38,257 {4.028)
Benefit payments (d.421) (5,270)
At end of the year 77.654 118,014
Fair value of scheme assers 2022 2021

£000 £'000
At beginning of the penod 126,389 134,011
Expected retwm on scheme assets 2,484 1,839
Actuarial loss . (38,669) (3.862)
Beneflt payments 4421y (3.20)
Administration ¢xpenses {941) (329)

Al end of the year 84842 126,389
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28,

benefit plans

Assed ¢lavses of sechenie agsets
Thie Plan assets are invested in the following asset classes. All invested essels kave a quated market value in an active macket. None of lhe assels 4r¢ ovested in the Company”s finaachal Insiruments or in property
oceupied by, ar olher assets nsed by, the Company.

2012 121
£'000 £'000
Cash instraments and sterling deposits 6,801 8,069
Cashat bunk 385 304
Annuity contrzel 77,654 118,016
Acend althe year _ . 84442 126,389
The recanciliation te the amount shown on the balance sheel is as folows: 02 1021
£900 £2000
Present value of chlieation (77,654) (118,016)
Fair value of schante assets R4,842 126,389
Unrecagnised portion of schenie assets {7,188) (8371
Net surphas recognised - N
Ne amounls have b inthe lidaled income statement for the currant or prios year. The administrasion cxpenses for the plan are scitled by the scheme and are thercfore oot recoguised within the
consolidated ncenw statement,
The Ret amaunt recopnised in edsenves is as Follows:
3 December 3 Deceanber
1012 191
£2000 £'000
Actuarisl gain on scheme obligations ARI5T 4,028
Astuariaf loss on scheme assels (38,569) (3,862}
Mowvement in unrecognised pension surn(us 1,353 8371
Actuarial loss o defingd bencfit peasion schemes 941 8,539
Net elfect in resenves arising frum mavements on foture scheme commitoient {941} {8.539)

Anatysls of gainsfioises
Qverall there was a lolal actnarial loss of £0.4 million (2021: £0.2 million aclusrial gain) during the yzar, whicl i broken dewn as follows.

Financial assumptions resulted in a gain of £33 & million , mainly due to the increase in the discount ral¢ assumpsion. This galn was partiatly offsct by the increase in the RPI inflation assumpiion and refated inflation.
linked increases, Denographic ussumptions resuited in o gain of £3,8-million, mafnly dus to changes in 1he mortality sssumption, in particular ypdating the CMI projection model DBO expericnce resulted i a gain
af £0.6 million, maialy due to higher than expected deferred revalustion and peasion increases over the year, During the year, asset retums underperformed againss the discount rare. This was entirely duz (o the value
of Ihe primary asscl, Uie insurance contmet, being set 1o cqual the vake af the liakiliti

Capilal cominitments.

2022 2021
£'000 £'Qog
Capltal commitments
Conftracted for, hut not provided for, acquisition of praperty, plant and squipment 26,519 15875
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29, Financlal insiruments and financla risk masagenzenl

The Ciraup's aperalions exposes it ta a variety of financial risks, that inchede market risk (including interst risk and price eisk), credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. The Group seeks to lignit the adverse effects
af1hes2 risks Ly monitoring levels of debt finance and the related finuncs coats, and by matching the risks afuhe financing with the risk and return profiles of the assets, The risks are monitored by monagement
throughoul the year viz monthily reviews of the opemtional performance, <ashiflaws, and levels of debt instruments and overall debl fevels.

Classes of financial instrumenty

The Group's financisl instromensts comiprise of financial asstesstich ns eash, abart-term deposits, iade and ather receivables, financial liabilities such as bank [oans, loan notes, and Irade and other payables.

The foflowing table classifies Lhe Group's (ancial asscls and liabitities:

212 1021
£'000 £1000
Flnanclal nssels at amertlscd cast
Trade end other receivables (note 18) 1,958 75,712
Cash ond cash equivaients 35,013 102915
‘T'otal financial asseis at amortised cost 126971 178627
Financlal ffabilitics at amartised cosi
Trade and other payables (note 22) {178,552) {99,248}
Leasc linhilities (note 17} {1L,717457) (1,674,086)
Loans and gther borrowings (notz 19) (F51,848) 215,848)
{2,057.857) (1,993,182)

‘Total financlal Uabjiltles nt amortised cost
The group has no financial instruments classified as Fair vahue through other comproheasive incoma or fir value through prafit and loss.

ayharket risk
Market risk is the risk that ¢hanges in markel prices, such ps interest nakes or othes price riske, will nffect the income from oc the value of inascial nstrumeats. The objective of markel risk mandgement is to manage
and conteol market Tisk exposure within acceptahle parameters while optimising the retum an risk.

The Group is primarily impacted by interest rte risk and other price dsks which ai¢ autlined hefow.

1) Interest rrte risk.
Financial instruments affected by isterest rate risk: inelude loans and other borrowings. The Group is primarily seasilive 1o changes in UK interest rates. This affects fuure cash fows from loans and borrowings

held,
Fited
£000
AC31 ecember 2622
Loans ang other barmawings {nale 19} 161,848
At31 Desember 202(
Loans and otleer bamowings (note 19) 219,848

1) Other price risks

“Thi# Growy has 4 number of fong-lerm cotricts coniaining fined indexation provisions. The Group gznerally seeks 10 price camracts at fevels fhat take secount of inercasing prices. As the volume of privale
patients is onticipated tn incrense in the futtize, the Group will be ncreasingly subject 1o pricing changes from private insuraics compantes.

Tire integrated care conlrels operate under & capped reveous budgel, The underlying principle assumed that the service can be run more fliciently, improving patient experh and reducing operstional costs,

Neverthebess, the Group beass the risk of rising operational costs as the baseline seveaue is fixed subject ta local demogrphic ar service pantfolio changes.
by Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk if fiooncial loss (o the Group s a custemer or contir-party ta a financial Instument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s rexcivable from custonsrs
and eash deposits, wilh their maximum exposure being represented by their camying amount.

The Group hus policies with customers that require unfront payment, where spproptiate. Cradit controt procedures arg designed o ensure that invoiced revenue Is coltected according 10 agreed terms, thal palicies
cxist ta limit exposurs 1o any oug party and ensure approved credit Timils are reviewed regularly. These help to eliminate significant concantrations of credit risk.

Most revenues arise from insured patlents' business and the NHS. Tnsured paticats glve rise o trade receivables which are mainly due from largs insurance instilutions, who have high ciedit wonthiness. The
resnainder of revenue arises from individual 1elf-pay patieats.

In necardance with [FRS 9, an axpociad credit loss modet is used Lo calculate the provision for impairment, This expacted credi lass akes into cansideration the age of debtor balances, and the characlesistics of the
debtor. Credit risk manugemenl services ars designed 1o try and raduce the expacted cradit loss 1o 2 minimum.

When willstng bank accounts and cash deposits, the Group transacts with counterpantiss who have seund credit profiles, Such counterparties are primarily laege, highly Taled finaneial institutions. In relation ta
financial instistions, the Group allcoaled a credil imil based o external ecredit catings. The counlerparty’s total oulslanding transections with the Group ineluding bauk accounts and cash deposils must ot excoud
Fimits ngraed by the Board of Directars.

) Liguidlsy rlsk

Liguidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficalty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due. The Qrevp's approach 1o liguidity is 1o mznage short and long-term borrowings to ensure (hat it
will alweys have suffickent liquidity to mets its abilitfes when dus, without incurring voacceptable logsses or ritk damaaging the Group's reputation

tion, by applying cash collection targets throughout the Group and by managing liquidity risk via long-tezmn debil and equity funding from

Thix is achicved by tobustly ing cash g ion 9cross jis
shareliiders.

The tabie below analyses the Group's nea-derivative and derivative financial liabilities inta relevant matwity groupings vased gn the remaining period at Lhe bakance shect date (o the cantract maturicy date. The

amounts includid in the table are the ] ndi d cash flows:
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1%, Financlol Instruments and Mnangial risk manapciient (veulinued)

3a.

3L

31

<) Liquldity risk {contiaued)

Less than 1 year Between 1-2 years Between 1-3 years Between 3-5 years QOver S years
At 3] Deeeniber 2021 £'200 £000 £000 £4000 £'000
Trade and ether payables {note 22} (178,552) - - - -
Lease linbilities {notc | ) {138,06%) (138.245) (140,906} {286,985) {3,529,988)
Loans and ollier borrewings (note 19} - (1,848) (160,000) - -
Nel oulllaws 316,620) (140,093} {308,%08) (186,585) {3,529,988)
At 31 December 2021
Trade and othec payables (nole 22) 199,248 - - - -
Lease Babilitky ¢note 17} (126,053 (128,233) (129,746} {264,664) (3,587,243
Loans and other barrowings {note 13} - - - - {219,848)
Ne| outflaws (225,303 (118,283) {129,746) (264.664) (3307090

Lease liabilitics qashflows are discounted to arrive 2t the balance sheel position per note 1 7. The impact of the discounting is £2,516.7 rillion (2021: £2 656.7 sillion} over the remaining terny of 1lie leases,

d} Capital management

The pimary abjeclive of Ihe Group's managentent of debl and ¢quity is 10 casure the continued growtb of the business, inclduing 1he financing of new hospitaks, equipnient and star-up costs, ineleding $ead Office
eests, in order to provide retums for the Group shareholders and other stakeholders. The Group raises financing whel reeded through o combination of debit and equity.

Ohjeslives are se( out at the beginaing of cach year, in Jing wilh the imposed requirements i covenants of ihe sharcholder agrecouents. Covenants on Ihe debt Facilities utilised by the Group arc tesled on o quarnierly
basis.

Events after the reporting peried

On 28 August 2023, it was snnounced that a definiliva agreement had beea signed whereby PureHealth will acquire Circle Heallh Gronp from Cenlene Carparatian with the ieansaction is expected 1o close in the first
quarter of 2024, The directors do not believe that this trnsaction 113 any material intpacl on the balances revorded o¢ The disclosures. preseated in these financial statements. At the date of sigaing the ultimate
contrailing parly remains unchanged, being Centenc Carporalion.

Related party transactions
Trading trantacticns with suhsidlacies
During the findacial year, tmding beansactions with the sabsidiadies Jisted fx note i+4, occurred throughaut tre year a5 part of the noanal course of business.

Remuneratlon of key management persannel

Sce noie 7 fof details on ion of key r

Other related parny transacilony
Bulance autstanding as at

Transactions 3§ Pecenber
2022 2021 2012 2021
£000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Ribera Salud Group (subsidiary of 1he Group's ulthmare parenty * {1.435) {1,226} - B
Associates {2,537 1,682 pral Lil0
Joint venluras {32 788 {84 (52

*Transactions with Ribera Salud Group ezlated lo consullancy services coeived Ribera Salud Group ceased to be o refated party during the year as the Group's ultimale pirent completed its diverstiture of Ribera
Satud Grovp in Navember 2022.

Trarsactions with associates and joint venture occtured througiiout the vear as pant of the normal course af business.

The total dividends received from associates and joint venlures during the year caq be seen inthe cashflow aiatement. All dividends declared were prid in the year and there were no dividends recievable at the year
end.

The above relared party halances are wisectred, H1Cur ao inferest and are fepayable on domand, o expense has bezn recognised i the current or prior Year for bad or doubful debis in respect of these amounts. The
bove relatcd party halances sre included within ather paceivables 0ad payables respectively.

Cantrolling party

The Directors regard MH Serviees latemational (UK) Limited, 2 Company registered in England and Wals, as the Company's L dinte parent undastaking, as at the 31 Ducember 2022, The Direclors tegard

Centeric Carporation as che Company’s uitimate paredq undertaking end contreifing party as at the 16 December 2372,

Circle Health Hotdings Limited is 1he parent underizking of the smallest group fos which consolidated financial statements are prepaced that include the finangial slatenicnis of the Company. Centene Corportion is
the parent undertaking of the Jangzest group for Which consolidated financial stetemeats arc prepared that include the financial statements of e Company. Ceatens Corpotation is a publicly traded company
incorporated in the United States of America, Centene Corporatlon's registerad address is 7700 Porsyth Bled,, St. Lauis, MO 63105,
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Fixed assets
lnvestments
Loans te group companies

Current assets
Debtors
Cash at bank and in hand

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Net current liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Called up share capital
Share premium

Other reserves
Accumulated losses

Total shavcholder's funds

Notes

10

13
13

31 Decembet

31 December

2022 2021
£:000 £000
75,211 75,211
206,701 121,754
281,912 196,925
1,856 90,005
5 14,964
1,861 104,969
99,150) (£16.699)
(97,289) (11,730
184,623 185,195
57 21
201,440 201,476
6,523 -
(23,397 (16,302)
184,623 185,195

The Company has taken advantage of section 408 of the Compauies Act 2006 and has not included its own income
statement in these financial statements. The loss made by the Company for the year was £7.1 million (202]: £2.7

milliomn).

The financial statements of Circle Health Holdings Limited were approved by the board of directors and authorised

forissue on ., 20 NONSIORET o 2023,
They were signed on its behalf by:

Name: Henry Davies
Director

29 NOVEIBE . 2023

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The company's registered address is 1st Floor, 30 Cannon Street, London EC4M 6XH, England.
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Called up Share Other Accumulated
share capital premium reserves losses Total
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £000
Balance as at 31 Pecember 2020 21 201,476 - (13,844) 187,653
Amounts vested under IFRS 2 (nute 12) - - - 213 213
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (2,671) (2,671)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 21 201,476 - (16,302) 185,195
Other movements 36 (36) - - -
Liquity-settied share-based payment (note 13) - - 6,523 - 6,523
Loss and tetal comprehensive Yoss for the year - - - {7,085) {7,095)
Balance as at 31 December 2022 57 201,440 6,523 (23,397 184,623




Circle Health Hpldings Limited

Notes to the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022

Page 59

Accounting policies

The Cempany's accounting policies are included within these disclosed on pages 28 to 37 of the Circle Heallh Holdings Limited consolidated group financial
statements,

Critleal accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the Group's and Company’s accounting policies, judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made sbout the carrying
amounis of assels and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources, The estimates and associated assumptions arc bascd on hislovical
experience and other factors that are considered to e relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The judgements and estimates that have the wost significant effect on the ameunts recognised in the consolidated financial statements, and could have &
waterial impact on the financial statements in the following year, include:

Critical judgements in applying the Group's accounting policles

There are not dsemed to be any critical judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Company's accounting pelicies in the financial

statements,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions and estimates at the end of the reporiing period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

the assets and liabilities within the next financial year ave discussed below:

Investments
Investments are recognised at cost Jess accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. The carrying amount of investments is assessed annualty, and the

useful lives of investments are considered to be indefinite. In the cvent that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequently the carrying
valuc of investments may be impacted.
Receivables

Receivables are recopnised at cost less provision for doubtful debts. The carrying amount of receivables is assessed amwally, and provisions recagnised hased
on the customer specific circarstances. In the event that this estimate is inaccurate, the recoverable amount and consequently the catrying value of receiables

may be impacted,

Operating costs

The Company incurred £193,000 in relation to UK statutory audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: £5,000).
Employees

Other than the Directors, the entity did not have any employees during the year (2021: nil), and therefore did not incur any staff costs during the year (2021:
£nil).

Directors' enioluyments

Please refer to the Direclors' emeluments note in the Circle Health Holdings Limited consolidated group financial statements (note 7).

Investments
Shares in subsidiary undertakings
£'000
Cost and net boak value
At 31 December 2021 and 31 Decomber 2622 75,211

The Directors consider that the value of the Companys fixed asset invesiments are supported by their underlying assets. No provision for impairment of
investments has been made for the year ended 3% December 2022 (2021: £nil).
See nate 14 of the group financial accounts for a list of investments heid by the Company.

Debtors

Amounts falling due within one year 31 December 2022 31 December 2621

£000 £000
Debtors - 42
Prepayments and accrued income 138 319
Amounts owed by greup subsidiaries - 89,644
Deferred tax {se¢ note 11) 1,568 -

1,856 90,005

Amounts owed by Group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayabie on demand.
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k-l

11

12

13

14

Loans ta group companies

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
£°040 £000

Amounts owed by group subsidiaries 206,701 121,714

Loans to group subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable on demand, Thesc balances have been classificd
within foans to group companies as management do not expect these halances to be recovered within the foreseeable future.

Creditors - anicunts falling due within one year

31 December 2022 31 Deceber 2021

£'000 £000
Trade and other creditors - 2
Amounts owed to group undertakings 98,206 116,413
Accruals and deferred income 944 284
99,150 116,699

Amounts owed to Group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayments and are repayable an demand.

Deferred tax asset

A1 December 2022 31 December 2031

£'000 £000
Beginning of the year - -
Credit 10 profit and loss account 1,516 -
Credit to equity (OCDH 82 -
End of the year 1,598 -

Deferred tax balances have been remeasured at the rates they are expected to reverse, which is mainly at 25%.

Share capital and share premium

Refer to note 24 of the group financial accounts for details of share capital, share premium and amounts vesting under [FRS 2.

Equity-setiled share-based payment

The long-tern: stack plan is a stock plan put in place by the ultimate parent company of Circle Health Holding Limited. The Company grants under this plan
solely retate to Restricted Stock Units {"RSUs") and Performance Stock Units ("PSUs") aver $0.001 par value common stock in Centene Inc, and have no
cash cost to the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2022 the ultimate parent company granted RSUs and PSUs under these stock plans to selected directors snd employees
of the Compauy.

The accounting standards (IFRS2) require an accounting (non-cash) charge to be made in the financial statements of the Circle Group for such awards, witly
the corresponding credit taken ta equity given there is no liability for the Circle Group for shares awarded under the long term stock plan.

The total aceounting charge is ealculated based on a number of factors and assurptions, and the amount recorded for the year related to employee share-
based plans was £6,523,000.

Further details of the stock plan ase included in Nole 24 of the consolidated financial statements.

Events after the reporting perlod

Cn 28 August 2023, it was announced that a definitive agreement had been signed whereby PureHealth will acquire Cirele Health Group from Centene
Corporation with the transaction is expected fo close in the ficst quarter of 2024. The directors do not believe that this transaction has amy matesial impact on
the balances recorded or the disclosures presented in these financial statements. At the date of signing the ultimate controlling party remains unchanged,

being Centene Corporation,
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Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption Jrom disclosing transactions with other members of the Group headed by Circle Health Holdings
Limited, provided that each party ta the transaction is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.

Ultimate pavent undevtaling and controlling party

The Directors regard MH Services Intenational (UK) Limited, a Company registered in England and Wales, as the Company's immediate parent undertaking,
as at the 31 Decernber 2022, The Directors regard Centenc Corporation as the Company's ultimate parent underiaking and contrelling party es at the 31
December 2022,

Cirele Health Holdings Limited is the parent undertaking of the smallest group for which consolidated financial statements are prepared that include the
financial statements of the Company. Ceniene Corporation is the parent urdertaking of the largest group for which consolidated financial statements arc
prepared that inctude the financial statements of the Company. Centene Corporation is a publicly traded company incorporated in the United States of
America. Centtene Corparation's registered address is 7700 Forsyth Bivd., St. Louis, MO 63105,




